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Item 1. Financial Statements

Assets
Current assets:
Cash and cash equivalents
Short-term investments
Prepaid expenses and other current assets
Total current assets
Property and equipment, net
Right-of-use assets
Other non-current assets
Total assets
Liabilities and stockholders’ equity
Current liabilities:
Accounts payable
Accrued expenses
Operating lease liabilities, current portion
Total current liabilities

Operating lease liabilities, less current portion

Performance award

Total liabilities
Commitments and contingencies
Stockholders’ equity:

PART | — FINANCIAL INFORMATION

RENEO PHARMACEUTICALS, INC.

Consolidated Balance Sheets

(In thousands, except share and par value data)

Common stock, $0.0001 par value; 200,000,000 shares authorized at
March 31, 2024 and December 31, 2023; 33,420,808 shares
issued and outstanding at March 31, 2024 and December 31, 2023

Additional paid-in capital
Accumulated deficit

Accumulated other comprehensive (loss) income

Total stockholders’ equity
Total liabilities and stockholders’ equity

March 31, December 31,
2024 2023
(Unaudited)
20,375 27,632
62,460 75,331
1,092 3,659
83,927 106,622
102 134
546 599
64 81
84,639 107,436
676 8,717
1,807 9,129
331 331
2,814 18,177
576 642
7 7
3,397 18,826
3 3
308,151 307,073
(226,900) (218,474)
(12) 8
81,242 88,610
84,639 107,436

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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RENEO PHARMACEUTICALS, INC.

Consolidated Statements of Operations and Comprehensive Loss

(In thousands, except share and per share data)
(Unaudited)

Operating expenses:
Research and development
General and administrative
Total operating expenses
Loss from operations
Other income
Net loss
Unrealized (loss) gain on short-term investments
Comprehensive loss
Net loss per share attributable to common stockholders,
basic and diluted

Weighted-average shares used in computing net
loss per share, basic and diluted

Three Months Ended March 31,

2024 2023
4942 S 10,991
4,622 5,132
9,564 16,123
(9,564 ) (16,123)
1,138 1,016
(8,426) (15,107)

(20) 55
(8,446) S (15,052)
(0.25) $ (0.60)

33,420,808 25,036,410

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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Balances, December 31, 2023
Stock based compensation
Other comprehensive loss
Net loss

Balances, March 31, 2024

Balances, December 31, 2022

Stock based compensation

Issuance of common stock in connection
with at-the-market facility, net of
issuance costs

Other comprehensive income

Net loss

Balances, March 31, 2023

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.

RENEO PHARMACEUTICALS, INC.

Consolidated Statements of Changes in Stockholders’ Equity
(In thousands, except share data)

(Unaudited)
Accumulated
Additional Other Total
Common Stock Paid-In Comprehensive Accumulated Stockholders’
Shares Amount Capital Income (Loss) Deficit Equity
33,420,808 $ 3 S 307,073 $ 8 $ (218,474) $ 88,610
— — 1,078 — — 1,078
— — — (20) — (20)
— — — — (8,426) (8,426)
33,420,808 $ 3 S 308,151 $ (12) $ (226,900) $ 81,242
Accumulated
Additional Other Total
Common Stock Paid-In Comprehensive Accumulated Stockholders’
Shares Amount Capital (Loss) Income Deficit Equity
24,699,553 S 3 S 236,693 S (@3) $ (136,683) $ 99,970
— — 1,157 — — 1,157
407,877 = 1,009 — — 1,009
— — — 55 — 55
= = = = (15,107) (15,107)
25,107,430 $ 3 S 238,859 $ 12 S (151,790) $ 87,084
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RENEO PHARMACEUTICALS, INC.

Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows
(In thousands)
(Unaudited)

Cash flows from operating activities
Net loss
Adjustments to reconcile net loss to net cash used in operating activities:
Stock-based compensation
Depreciation and amortization
Amortization/accretion on short-term investments
Changes in the fair value of performance award
Non-cash lease expense
Loss on disposal of fixed asset
Changes in operating assets and liabilities:
Prepaid and other assets
Accounts payable and accrued expenses
Operating lease liabilities
Net cash used in operating activities
Cash flows from investing activities
Purchases of property and equipment
Purchase of available-for-sale short-term investments
Proceeds from maturities of available-for-sale short-term investments
Net cash provided by investing activities
Cash flows from financing activities

Proceeds from issuance of common stock under the at-the-market
facility, net of offering costs

Net cash provided by financing activities

Net (decrease) increase in cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of period

Cash and cash equivalents, end of period

Three Months Ended

March 31,
2024 2023

(8,426) (15,107)

1,078 1,157

16 41
(906) (770)

— 295

67 120

16 3

2,584 1,952

(15,363) 3,398
(80) (137)
(21,014) (9,048)
— (172)
(45,243) (28,321)

59,000 47,000

13,757 18,507

— 1,009

— 1,009

(7,257) 10,468

27,632 19,927

20,375 30,395

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.



RENEO PHARMACEUTICALS, INC.

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
(Unaudited)

1. Organization and Business
Organization

Reneo Pharmaceuticals, Inc. (Reneo or the Company) commenced operations on September 22, 2014 as a pharmaceutical company and has
historically focused on the development of therapies for patients with rare genetic mitochondrial diseases. In December 2017, the Company in-licensed
mavodelpar (REN0O1), a novel oral peroxisome proliferator-activated receptor delta (PPARS) agonist.

Risks and Uncertainties

On December 14, 2023, the Company announced that its pivotal STRIDE study, a global, randomized, double-blind, placebo-controlled Phase 2b trial of
mavodelpar in adult patients with primary mitochondria myopathy due to mitochondrial DNA defects, did not meet its primary or secondary efficacy
endpoints. As a result, the Company suspended the development activities of its only product candidate, mavodelpar, and implemented cash preservation
activities, including substantial workforce reduction. In December 2023 and February 2024, the Company implemented a workforce reduction and recognized
approximately $2.5 million and $1.6 million in severance and continuation of benefit expenses, respectively.

The Company is subject to a number of risks similar to other pharmaceutical companies including, but not limited to, dependency on the clinical and
commercial success of the Company’s potential product candidates, ability to obtain regulatory approval of any such potential product candidates, the need
for substantial additional financing to achieve its goals, uncertainty of broad adoption of its approved products, if any, by physicians, consumers and third-
party payors, significant competition and untested manufacturing capabilities, and dependence on key individuals and sole source suppliers.

Liquidity

From its inception in 2014, the Company has incurred significant losses and negative cash flows from operations and expects to continue to incur net
losses into the foreseeable future and may never become profitable. As of March 31, 2024, the Company had cash, cash equivalents and short-term
investments of $82.8 million to fund future operations. Since inception through March 31, 2024, the Company has funded its operations primarily through
the issuance and sale of equity securities. Management has prepared cash flow forecasts which indicate that, based on the Company’s current cash resources
available and working capital, the Company will have sufficient resources to fund its operations for at least one year after the date the consolidated financial
statements are issued.

Future capital requirements will depend on many factors, including the timing and extent of spending on its operations and there can be no assurance
that the Company will be successful in obtaining additional funding, that the Company’s projections of its future working capital needs will prove accurate, or
that any additional funding would be sufficient to continue operations in future years. If the Company is not able to secure adequate additional funding, the
Company may be forced to make reductions in spending, extend payment terms with suppliers, and liquidate assets where possible. Any of these actions
could negatively impact the Company’s business, results of operations, and future prospects.



2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies
Basis of Presentation and Consolidation

The Company has prepared the accompanying unaudited consolidated financial statements pursuant to the rules and regulations of the Securities and
Exchange Commission. Certain information and note disclosures normally included in annual financial statements prepared in accordance with accounting
principles generally accepted in the United States of America (GAAP) have been condensed or omitted, although the Company believes that the disclosures
made are adequate to make the information not misleading. The Company recommends that the unaudited consolidated financial statements be read in
conjunction with the audited consolidated financial statements and the notes thereto included in the Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year
ended December 31, 2023.

In the opinion of management, all adjustments, including normal recurring adjustments, considered necessary for a fair statement of the financial
statements, have been included in the accompanying unaudited financial statements. Interim results are not necessarily indicative of results that may be
expected for any other interim period or for an entire year.

The accompanying unaudited consolidated financial statements include the accounts of the Company and its wholly owned subsidiary. All
intercompany balances and transactions have been eliminated in consolidation.

Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

The significant accounting policies used in the preparation of these consolidated financial statements for the three months ended March 31, 2024 are
consistent with those discussed in Note 2 to the consolidated financial statements in the Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended
December 31, 2023.

New Accounting Pronouncements

There were various accounting standards and interpretations issued recently, none of which are expected to have a material impact on the Company’s
financial position, operations or cash flows.

3. Net Loss Per Share

The Company computes basic loss per share by dividing the net loss attributable to common stockholders by the weighted average number of
common shares outstanding for the period, without consideration for common stock equivalents. Diluted net loss per share assumes the conversion, exercise
or issuance of all potential common stock equivalents, unless the effect of inclusion would be anti-dilutive. For purposes of this calculation, common stock
shares to be issued upon exercise of all outstanding stock options and vesting of restricted stock units were excluded from the diluted net loss per share
calculation for the three months ended March 31, 2024 and 2023 because such shares are anti-dilutive.

Historical outstanding anti-dilutive securities not included in the diluted net loss per share calculation include the following:

As of March 31,
2024 2023
Common stock options outstanding 4,798,794 6,013,345
Unvested restricted stock units 311,500 369,500
Total 5,110,294 6,382,845




4. Fair Value Measurements

ASC Topic 820, Fair Value Measurement, establishes a fair value hierarchy for instruments measured at fair value that distinguishes between
assumptions based on market data (observable inputs) and the Company’s own assumptions (unobservable inputs). Observable inputs are inputs that market
participants would use in pricing an asset or liability based on market data obtained from sources independent of the Company. Unobservable inputs are
inputs that reflect the Company’s assumptions about the inputs that market participants would use in pricing the asset or liability and are developed based
on the best information available in the circumstances.

ASC Topic 820 identifies fair value as the exit price, representing the amount that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an
orderly transaction between market participants. As a basis for considering market participant assumptions in fair value measurements, ASC Topic 820
establishes a three-tier fair value hierarchy that distinguishes between the following:

. Level 1 — Observable inputs such as quoted prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities.
. Level 2 — Inputs, other than quoted prices in active markets, which are observable for the asset or liability, either directly or indirectly.
. Level 3 — Unobservable inputs in which there is little or no market data, which requires the Company to develop its own assumptions.

Assets and liabilities measured at fair value are classified in their entirety based on the lowest level of input that is significant to the fair value
measurement. The Company’s assessment of the significance of a particular input to the fair value measurement in its entirety requires management to make
judgments and consider factors specific to the asset or liability. The Company’s financial assets are subject to fair value measurements on a recurring basis.

The Company categorizes its money market funds as Level 1, using the quoted prices in active markets. Commercial paper and U.S. treasury securities
are categorized as Level 2, using significant other observable inputs. The fair value of the Company’s investments in certain money market funds is their face
value and such instruments are classified as Level 1 and are included in cash and cash equivalents on the consolidated balance sheets.

In connection with the Company’s chief executive officer’s (CEO) employment agreement, he is entitled to receive a special performance bonus in the
amount of $7.5 million (Performance Award), payable in cash, common stock or a combination of cash and common stock, at the election of the Company,
based on achievement of certain conditions as described in more detail in Note 8. The Company estimated the fair value of the Performance Award using a
Monte Carlo simulation, which incorporates the stock price at the date of the valuation and utilizes Level 3 inputs such as volatility, probabilities of success,
and other inputs that are not observable in active markets. The Performance Award is required to be measured at fair value on a recurring basis each
reporting period, with changes in the fair value recognized in general and administrative expense in the consolidated statements of operations and
comprehensive loss over the derived service period of the award.

No assets or liabilities were transferred into or out of their classifications during the three months ended March 31, 2024.



The recurring fair value measurement of the Company’s assets and liabilities measured at fair value at March 31, 2024 consisted of the following (in
thousands):

Quoted Prices in

Active Markets Significant Other Significant
For Identical Observable Unobservable
Items Inputs Inputs
(Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3) Total
Assets
Cash and cash equivalents:
Money market investments S 10,902 S ) - S 10,902
U.S. treasury securities — 5,975 — 5,975
Short-term investments:
U.S. treasury securities — 62,439 — 62,439
Total S 10,902 S 68,414 S ) 79,316
Liabilities
Performance award S ) - S 7 S 7
Total S — S - S 7 S 7

The recurring fair value measurement of the Company’s assets and liabilities measured at fair value at December 31, 2023 consisted of the following
(in thousands):

Quoted Prices in

Active Markets Significant Other Significant
For Identical Observable Unobservable
Items Inputs Inputs
(Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3) Total
Assets
Cash and cash equivalents:
Money market investments S 10,983 S ) — S 10,983
U.S. treasury securities — 9,928 — 9,928
Short-term investments:
U.S. treasury securities — 75,331 — 75,331
Total S 10,983 S 85259 $ ) 96,242
Liabilities
Performance award S — S ) 7 S 7
Total S - S - S 7 S 7

The following table sets forth a summary of changes in the fair value measurements of the Performance Award liability (in thousands):

Performance
Award
Balance as of January 1, 2024 S 7
Change in fair value —
Balance as of March 31, 2024 S 7

5. Marketable Debt Securities

The Company’s investments in debt securities are carried at fair value and classified as current assets available-for-sale and represent the investment
of funds available for current operations. Accretion of bond
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discount and interest income on marketable securities is included in other income as a separate component of other income (expense) on the statement of
operations and comprehensive loss. Unrealized gains and losses on available-for-sale debt securities are included in other comprehensive income or loss, and
charged to income or expense in the period when realized. The following tables summarize the gross unrealized gains and losses of the Company’s available-
for-sale securities (in thousands):

As of March 31, 2024
Gross Gross Fair
Amortized Unrealized Unrealized Market
Cost Gains Losses Value
Available-for-sale securities:
U.S. treasury securities S 62,451 S - S (12) s 62,439
Total S 62,451 S ) (12) s 62,439
As of December 31, 2023
Gross Gross Fair
Amortized Unrealized Unrealized Market
Cost Gains Losses Value
Available-for-sale securities:
U.S. treasury securities S 75,324 S 8 S (1) s 75,331
Total S 75324 S 8 S (1) s 75,331

As of March 31, 2024, the Company considered the unrealized losses in its investment portfolio to be temporary in nature and not due to credit losses.
The Company has the intent and ability to hold such investments until their recovery at fair value. The Company did not have any realized gains or losses in its
available for sale securities during the three months ended March 31, 2024 and 2023.

6. Accrued Expenses

Accrued expenses consisted of the following (in thousands):

As of March 31, 2024 As of December 31, 2023
Accrued clinical and regulatory S 190 S 3,661
Accrued contract manufacturing cost 1 1,100
Accrued compensation* 1,170 3,948
Accrued other 446 420
Total accrued expenses S 1,807 S 9,129

*Accrued compensation includes severance costs.

7. Leases

The Company’s headquarters are located in Irvine, California, where it leases office space under a lease agreement that expires in November 2026. The
Company leases additional office space located in Sandwich, United Kingdom under a lease agreement that expires in October 2027, with an option to early
terminate in October 2025 with no termination fee. In January 2024, the Company exercised its early termination option.
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Other information related to the Company’s operating leases as of the balance sheet dates presented are as follows:

As of March 31,

2024 2023
Weighted incremental borrowing rate 5% 5%
Weighted average remaining lease term (in years) 2.5 3.8
Cash paid for amounts included in the measurement of lease liabilities (in thousands) S 96 S 142
Lease expense (in thousands) S 83 S 120

Maturities of lease liabilities by fiscal year for the Company’s operating leases are as follows (in thousands):

As of March 31, 2024
2024 (remaining nine months) S 293
2025 371
2026 285
Total lease payments 949
Less: Imputed interest (42)
Present value of lease liabilities S 907

8. Stock-Based Compensation

In March 2021, the Company’s Board of Directors adopted the Company’s 2021 Equity Incentive Plan (2021 Plan), which is the successor to the
Company’s 2014 Equity Incentive Plan (2014 Plan). As of the effective date of the 2021 Plan, awards granted under the 2014 Plan that are forfeited or
otherwise become available under the 2014 Plan will be included and available for issuance under the 2021 Plan. Under the 2021 Plan, the Company may
grant stock options, stock appreciation rights, restricted stock awards, restricted stock units, and other awards to individuals who are employees, officers,
directors or consultants of the Company and its affiliates.

Under the 2014 Plan, certain employees were granted the ability to early exercise their options. The shares of common stock issued pursuant to the
early exercise of unvested stock options are restricted and continue to vest over the requisite service period after issuance. The Company has the option to
repurchase any unvested shares at the original purchase price upon any voluntary or involuntary termination. The shares purchased by the employees
pursuant to the early exercise of stock options are not deemed, for accounting purposes, to be outstanding until those shares vest. As of March 31, 2024,
there were no unvested shares of common stock outstanding that were issued pursuant to the early exercise of stock options.

Shares Reserved for Future Issuance

As of March 31, 2024, the Company had reserved shares of its common stock for future issuance as follows:

Shares
Reserved
Common stock options outstanding 4,798,794
Unvested restricted stock units 311,500
Available for future grants under the 2021 Equity Incentive Plan 4,296,163
Available for future grants under the 2021 Employee Stock Purchase Plan 780,098
Total shares of common stock reserved 10,186,555
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Stock Options

A summary of the Company’s stock option activity and related information for the three months ended March 31, 2024 is as follows:

Weighted-
Weighted- Average Aggregate
Average Remaining Intrinsic
Options Exercise Contractual Value (in
Outstanding Price Term (in years) thousands)
Outstanding at December 31, 2023 5,301,254 S 4.76 69 S —
Forfeited/Expired (502,460) S 4.85
Outstanding at March 31, 2024 4,798,794 ¢ 4.75 69 S —
Vested at March 31, 2024 3,105,675 S 4.90 64 S —
Exercisable at March 31, 2024 3,369,189 S 4.90 64 S —

Options exercisable at March 31, 2024 include vested options and options eligible for early exercise. All outstanding options as of March 31, 2024 are
expected to vest.

Unrecognized stock-based compensation expense as of March 31, 2024 was $4.4 million, which is expected to be recognized over a weighted-average
vesting term of 1.8 years.

The Company estimates stock awards fair value on the date of grant using the Black-Scholes valuation, with the vesting being subject to service
requirements. The Company accounts for forfeitures when they occur. The Company did not grant any stock options during the three months ended March
31, 2024. The fair value of the options granted during the three months ended March 31, 2023 were estimated at the date of grant with the following
assumptions: risk-free interest rate of 3.9%, expected volatility of 85.1%, expected life of 6.1 years, and expected dividend yield of 0%.

Risk-free interest rate. The Company bases the risk-free interest rate assumption on the U.S. Treasury’s rates for U.S. Treasury zero-coupon bonds with
maturities similar to those of the expected term of the award being valued.

Expected volatility. The expected volatility assumption was based on the volatilities of a peer group of similar companies whose share prices are
publicly available and the Company’s own stock. The peer group was developed based on companies in the biotechnology industry.

Expected term. The expected term represents the period of time that options are expected to be outstanding. Because the Company does not have
historical exercise behavior, it determines the expected life assumption using the simplified method, which is an average of the contractual term of the option
and its vesting period.

Expected dividend yield. The Company bases the expected dividend yield assumption on the fact that it has never paid cash dividends and has no
present intention to pay cash dividends.

Restricted Stock Units (RSUs)

RSUs consist of time-based units (TSUs), performance-based units (PSUs) and market-based units (MSUs). The following table summarizes RSU
activities during the three months ended March 31, 2024:

13



Weighted-Average

Number of Grant Date

RSUs Fair Value
Unvested at December 31, 2023 326,500 S 5.90
Cancelled (15,000) $ 6.98
Unvested at March 31, 2024 311,500 ¢ 5.85

Time-Based Units

TSUs typically vest over four years, with 25% vesting on the one-year anniversary of the employee’s hire date and the remainder vesting monthly or
quarterly over the following three years subject to the employee’s continued employment with the Company through the vesting dates. The fair value of the
awards was based on the value of the Company’s common stock at the grant date of the award and expense is recognized on a straight-line basis. The
Company had 57,000 unvested shares underlying TSUs as of March 31, 2024. The stock-based compensation expense related to such TSUs for the three
months ended March 31, 2024 was immaterial. Unrecognized stock-based compensation expense as of March 31, 2024 was $0.3 million, which is expected to
be recognized over a weighted-average vesting term of 3.4 years.

Performance-Based Units

The vesting of the PSUs is based on the Company achieving certain regulatory milestones and is subject to the employee’s continued employment with
the Company through the achievement date. The fair value of the awards was based on the value of the Company’s common stock at the grant date of the
award and expense recognition is based on the probability of achieving the performance conditions. Stock-based compensation expense is adjusted in future
periods for subsequent changes in the expected outcome of the performance conditions. The Company had 134,500 unvested shares underlying PSUs as of
March 31, 2024. The Company concluded that achievement of the performance conditions was not probable as of March 31, 2024 and 2023, and therefore
no stock-based compensation expense was recognized for the three months ended March 31, 2024 and 2023 in connection with the PSUs. As of March 31,
2024, there was $1.1 million of unrecognized stock-based compensation expense related to PSUs that were deemed not probable of vesting.

Market-Based Units

The vesting of the MSUs is based on the Company’s closing stock price trading above $20 per share for 30 consecutive trading days subject to the
employee’s continued employment with the Company through the date of achievement. The share price of the Company’s common stock on the date of
issuance of the MSUs was $2.78 per share. The fair value was based on Monte Carlo simulation model on the grant date. Stock-based compensation expense
is recognized over the derived service period of approximately 3 years. The Company had 120,000 unvested shares underlying MSUs as of March 31, 2024.
Stock-based compensation expense related to the MSUs during the three months ended March 31, 2024 and 2023 was immaterial. As of March 31, 2024,
unrecognized stock-based compensation expense related to the MSUs was immaterial.

Performance Award

In connection with the CEQ’s employment agreement, he is entitled to receive a Performance Award in the amount of $7.5 million, payable in cash,
common stock or a combination of cash and common stock, at the election of the Company, in the event that (i) the Company’s market value exceeds $750.0
million utilizing the volume-weighted average of the closing sale price of its common stock on the Nasdaq Stock Market or other principal exchange for each
of the 30 trading days immediately prior to the measurement date, or (ii) the fair market value of the net proceeds available for distribution to the Company’s
stockholders in connection with a change in control as defined in the Company’s severance benefit plan, as determined in good faith by its Board of
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Directors, exceeds $750.0 million. The Company has determined that the Performance Award is subject to ASC 718, Compensation — Stock Compensation and
includes both market and performance conditions. Since the Company’s initial public offering (IPO), neither of the events have yet been satisfied. The
Company estimated the fair value of the Performance Award at each reporting period using the Monte Carlo simulation (Note 4), which is recognized as stock-
based compensation expense over the derived service period. For the three months ended March 31, 2024, stock-based compensation expense was
immaterial. For the three months ended March 31, 2023, the Company recognized approximately $0.3 million in stock-based compensation expense as a
direct result of the increased value of the Performance Award primarily caused by the increase in the Company’s common stock price.

2021 Employee Stock Purchase Plan

In March 2021, the Company’s Board of Directors adopted the Company’s 2021 Employee Stock Purchase Plan (ESPP), which became effective
immediately prior to the execution of the underwriting agreement in connection with the Company’s IPO. As of March 31, 2024, 288,466 shares have been
issued under the ESPP.

In September 2021, the compensation committee of the Company’s Board of Directors (Compensation Committee) adopted the Company’s 2021 UK
Sharesave Sub-plan (SAYE). An allocation of 25,875 shares of common stock from the ESPP reserve pool was approved and reserved for issuance under the
SAYE. The Compensation Committee terminated the SAYE in January 2024 and the reserved shares were returned to the ESPP reserve pool. No shares were
issued under the SAYE prior to its termination.

The stock-based compensation expense related to the ESPP and the SAYE for the three months ended March 31, 2024 and 2023, was immaterial.

Stock-Based Compensation Expense

The following table summarizes stock-based compensation expense, including expense associated with options, TSUs, MSUs and award modifications
for unvested options, reflected in the consolidated statements of operations and comprehensive loss (in thousands):

Three Months Ended March 31,

2024 2023
Research and development S 253 S 473
General and administrative 825 684
Total S 1,078 S 1,157

9. License Agreement

In December 2017, the Company entered into a license agreement (the vTv License Agreement) with vTv Therapeutics LLC (vTv Therapeutics), under
which the Company obtained an exclusive, worldwide, sublicensable license under certain vTv Therapeutics intellectual property to develop, manufacture and
commercialize PPARS agonists and products containing such PPARS agonists, including mavodelpar, for any therapeutic, prophylactic or diagnostic application
in humans. Since the Company has suspended all development activity related to mavodelpar, it is not currently performing any development efforts under
the vTv License Agreement.

To date, the Company has paid a $3.0 million upfront payment, $2.0 million in milestone payments and issued an aggregate of 576,443 shares of its
common stock to vTv Therapeutics. On October 30, 2023, the Company repurchased from vTv Therapeutics all 576,443 shares of its common stock previously
issued to vTv Therapeutics under the vTv License Agreement for an aggregate purchase price of approximately $4.4 million in a private, non-underwritten
transaction.
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Upon the achievement of certain pre-specified development and regulatory milestones, the Company is also required to pay vTv Therapeutics
milestone payments totaling up to $64.5 million. The Company is also required to pay vTv Therapeutics up to $30.0 million in total sales-based milestones
upon achievement of certain sales thresholds of the licensed product. As of March 31, 2024, the Company has paid an aggregate of $2.0 million in
development and regulatory milestone payments. In addition, the Company is obligated to make royalty payments to vTv Therapeutics at mid-single digit to
low teen percentage royalty rates, based on tiers of annual net sales of licensed products, subject to certain customary reductions. There were no milestone
payments achieved or recorded for the three months ended March 31, 2024 and 2023.
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Item 2. Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations

You should read the following discussion and analysis of our financial condition and results of operations together with our consolidated financial
statements and related notes included elsewhere in this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q and our audited consolidated financial statements and notes thereto
and the related Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations included in our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the

year ended December 31, 2023. Unless otherwise indicated, all references in this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q to “Reneo,” the “company,” “we,” “our,” “us”
or similar terms refer to Reneo Pharmaceuticals, Inc. and its subsidiary.

Forward-Looking Statements

In addition to historical financial information, this discussion contains forward-looking statements based upon current expectations that involve risks
and uncertainties. Our actual results could differ materially from those anticipated in these forward-looking statements as a result of various factors, including
those set forth in the section titled “Risk Factors” under Part I, Item 1A below. In some cases, you can identify forward-looking statements by terminology such
as “aim,” “anticipate,” “assume,” “believe,” “contemplate,” “continue,” “could,” “design,” “due,” “estimate,” “expect,” “goal,” “intend,” “may,” “objective,”
“plan,” “predict,” “project,” “positioned,” “potential,” “seek,” “should,” “target,” “will,” “would” or the negative of these terms or other similar expressions.

”u
(0]

”n u,

In addition, statements that “we believe” and similar statements reflect our beliefs and opinions on the relevant subject. These statements are based
upon information available to us as of the date of this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q, and while we believe such information forms a reasonable basis for
such statements, such information may be limited or incomplete, and our statements should not be read to indicate that we have conducted an exhaustive
inquiry into, or review of, all potentially available relevant information. These statements are inherently uncertain, and investors are cautioned not to unduly
rely upon these statements.

Overview

Reneo is a pharmaceutical company historically focused on the development and commercialization of therapies for patients with rare genetic
mitochondrial diseases, which are often associated with the inability of mitochondria to produce adenosine triphosphate. Our only product candidate,
mavodelpar, is a potent and selective agonist of the peroxisome proliferator-activated receptor delta (PPARS). Mavodelpar has been shown to increase
transcription of genes involved in mitochondrial function and increase fatty acid oxidation , and may increase production of new mitochondria.

On December 14, 2023, we announced that our pivotal STRIDE study, a global, randomized, double-blind, placebo-controlled Phase 2b trial of
mavodelpar in adult patients with primary mitochondria myopathy (PMM) due to mitochondrial DNA (mtDNA) defects, did not meet its primary or secondary
efficacy endpoints. As a result, we suspended the development activities for mavodelpar and implemented cash preservation activities, including a substantial
workforce reduction. We implemented a reduction in workforce in December 2023 and February 2024, and currently have eight full-time employees
remaining.

In January 2024, our Board of Directors retained an independent financial advisor to initiate a formal process to evaluate potential strategic
alternatives focused on maximizing stockholder value, including, but not limited to, a merger, sale, other business combination, a strategic partnership with
one or more parties, or the licensing, sale or divestiture of our assets. Our Board of Directors, in consultation with our independent financial and legal
advisors, is evaluating a number of strategic alternatives. If we do not successfully consummate a transaction with a strategic alternative, our Board of
Directors may decide to pursue a dissolution and liquidation of our company. We are no longer pursuing further clinical development of mavodelpar at this
time. The disclosures throughout this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q include discussion regarding our historical operations along with potential risks that
could arise if we or a third party pursue further research, development or clinical trials in the future. Our evaluation of potential strategic alternatives entails
numerous significant risks and uncertainties, including those set forth in Part Il, tem 1A under the heading “Risk Factors” of this Quarterly Report on Form 10-

Q
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History of Mavodelpar Clinical Trials Overview

The following table summarizes our historical clinical trials.

Study Design Subjects Dose Duration NCT Study Number
1 Phase 1 RDBPCT Healthy 25-250 mg Single-dose -
2 Phase 1 RDBPCt Obese (dyslipidemic) 50-200 mg 14 days -
Phase 1 RDBPCT (leg
3 immobilization) Healthy 200 mg 28 days -
PMM 12 weeks
4 Open-label Phase 1b (MtDNA) 100 mg (+36 weeks) NCT03862846
McArdle
5 Open-label Phase 1b . 100 mg 12 weeks NCT04226274
Disease
LC-FAOD*
6 Open-label Phase 1b (NDNA)A 100 mg 12 weeks NCT03833128
RDBPCTt Phase 2b PMM
7 (STRIDE) (MtDNA) 100 mg 24 weeks NCT04535609
Open-label safety PMM
8 (STRIDE AHEAD) (MtDNA + nDNA) 100 mg Zyears NCT05267574

T randomized double-blind placebo-controlled clinical trial
* long-chain fatty acid oxidation disorder
A nuclear DNA

License Agreement

In December 2017, we entered into a License Agreement (vVTv License Agreement) with vTv Therapeutics LLC (vTv Therapeutics), under which we
obtained an exclusive, worldwide, sublicensable license under certain vTv Therapeutics intellectual property to develop, manufacture and commercialize
PPARS agonists and products containing such PPARS agonists, including mavodelpar, for any therapeutic, prophylactic or diagnostic application in humans.
Since we have suspended all development activity related to mavodelpar, we are not currently performing any development efforts under the vTv License
Agreement.

Under the terms of the vTv License Agreement, we paid vTv Therapeutics an initial upfront license fee of $3.0 million and $2.0 million of milestone
payments and issued an aggregate of 576,443 shares of our common stock to vTv Therapeutics. On October 30, 2023, we repurchased from vTv Therapeutics
all 576,443 shares of our common stock previously issued to vTv Therapeutics under the vTv License Agreement for an aggregate purchase price of
approximately $4.4 million in a private, non-underwritten transaction.

Upon the achievement of certain pre-specified development and regulatory milestones, we are also required to pay vTv Therapeutics milestone
payments totaling up to $64.5 million. We are also required to pay vTv Therapeutics up to $30.0 million in total sales-based milestones upon achievement of
certain sales thresholds of the licensed product. As of March 31, 2024, we have paid an aggregate of $2.0 million in development and regulatory milestone
payments. In addition, we are obligated to make tiered royalty payments to vTv Therapeutics at mid-single digit to low teen percentage royalty rates, based
on tiers of annual net sales of licensed products, subject to certain customary reductions. There were no milestone payments achieved or recorded for the
three months ended March 31, 2024 and 2023.

Although we have suspended development activities related to mavodelpar, we continue to maintain and prosecute mavodelpar intellectual property.
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Components of Our Results of Operations
Operating Expenses
Research and Development Expenses

Research and development expenses primarily relate to preclinical and clinical development of mavodelpar. Research and development expenses
include:

. personnel expenses, including severance payments, salaries, benefits, and stock-based compensation expense;

. external expenses incurred under agreements with contract research organizations (CROs), investigative sites and consultants to conduct and
support our preclinical studies and clinical trials;

. raw materials related to manufacturing of our product candidate for clinical trials and preclinical studies, including fees paid to third-party
manufacturers;

. expenses related to regulatory activities, including filing fees paid to regulatory agencies;

. expenses related to medical affairs activities, including field teams to initiate relevant disease education and publications;

. depreciation and maintenance expenses; and

. fees for maintaining licenses under our third-party licensing agreements.

Research and development expenses are recognized as incurred and payments made prior to the receipt of goods or services to be used in research
and development are capitalized until the goods or services are received. Costs for certain activities, such as manufacturing and preclinical studies and clinical
trials, are generally recognized based on an evaluation of the progress to completion of specific tasks using information and data provided to us by our
vendors and collaborators. We expense amounts paid to acquire licenses associated with products under development when the ultimate recoverability of
the amounts paid is uncertain and the technology has no alternative future use when acquired.

The following table summarizes our research and development expenses for the three months ended March 31, 2024 and 2023 (unaudited and in
thousands):

Three Months Ended March 31,

2024 2023
Clinical and regulatory S 3,578 S 6,057
Contract manufacturing cost 34 2,028
Nonclinical 439 1,244
Medical affairs 568 1,018
Research and development-other expense 323 644
Total $ 4942 S 10,991

As a result of implementing our cash preservation activities, including suspension of development activities for mavodelpar, we expect our research
and development expenses to decrease for the foreseeable future. If we pursue further development of mavodelpar or any other product candidates in the
future, we cannot determine with certainty the timing of initiation, the duration or the completion costs of such clinical trials due to the inherently
unpredictable nature of preclinical and clinical development. Clinical and preclinical development timelines, the probability of success and development costs
can differ materially from expectations. We may need to raise substantial additional capital in the future. In addition, we cannot forecast whether any future
product candidate may be subject to future collaborations, when such arrangements will be secured, if at all, and to what degree such arrangements would
affect our development plans and capital requirements.

Our research and development costs may vary significantly based on factors such as:

19



. the scope, rate of progress, expense and results of clinical trials and preclinical studies;

. per patient trial costs;

. the number of trials required for approval;

. the number of sites included in the trials;

. the countries in which the trials are conducted;

. the number of patients that participate in the trials;

. uncertainties in patient enrollment or drop out or discontinuation rates;
. potential additional safety monitoring requested by regulatory agencies;
. the duration of patient participation in the trials and follow-up;

. the safety and efficacy of our product candidate;

. the cost and timing of manufacturing our product candidates; and

. the extent to which we establish strategic collaborations or other arrangements.

General and Administrative Expenses

General and administrative expenses consist primarily of personnel expenses, including severance payments, salaries, benefits, and stock-based
compensation expenses for personnel in executive, finance and administrative functions. General and administrative expenses also include professional fees
for accounting, legal, and commercial development, insurance and corporate facility costs not otherwise included in research and development expenses. We
expect our general and administrative expenses to decrease for the foreseeable future as a result of our cash preservation activities.

Other Income

Other income consists of interest income on our cash, cash equivalents and short-term investments.

Results of Operations
Comparison of Three Months Ended March 31, 2024 and 2023 (Unaudited)

The following table summarizes our results of operations for the three months ended March 31, 2024 and 2023 (unaudited and in thousands):

Three Months Ended March 31,

2024 2023 Change
Operating expenses:
Research and development S 4942 S 10,991 S (6,049)
General and administrative 4,622 5,132 (510)
Total operating expenses 9,564 16,123 (6,559)
Loss from operations (9,564 ) (16,123) 6,559
Other income 1,138 1,016 122
Net loss $ (8,426) S (15,107) $ 6,681

Operating Expenses

Research and Development Expenses
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Research and development expenses decreased by $6.0 million during the three months ended March 31, 2024, compared to the three months ended
March 31, 2023. This decrease was primarily due to the suspension of development activities for mavodelpar and cash preservation activities, including
workforce reductions in December 2023 and February 2024.

General and Administrative Expenses

General and administrative expenses decreased by $0.5 million during the three months ended March 31, 2024, compared to the three months ended
March 31, 2023. This decrease was primarily due to the workforce reductions in December 2023 and February 2024.

Other Income

The increase in other income for the three months ended March 31, 2024, compared to the three months ended March 31, 2023 relates to higher
interest income attributable to increasing interest rates during 2024.

Liquidity and Capital Resources

Since inception, we have financed our operations primarily through the sale of equity securities. We have not generated any revenue from the sale of
any products. As of March 31, 2024, we had available cash, cash equivalents and short-term investments of approximately $82.8 million.

In November 2023, we entered into an at-the-market equity offering sales agreement (Sales Agreement) with Leerink Partners LLC (Leerink) under
which we may offer and sell, from time to time, at our sole discretion, up to $100.0 million in shares of our common stock (2023 ATM Facility). As of March
31, 2024, we had not sold any shares of our common stock under the 2023 ATM Facility. Effective as of April 8, 2024, we terminated the Sales Agreement.

Funding Requirements

From our inception in 2014, we have incurred significant losses and negative cash flows from operations. As of March 31, 2024, we had an
accumulated deficit of $226.9 million. For the three months ended March 31, 2024, we had a net loss of $8.4 million and we used $21.0 million of cash in
operating activities during the three months ended March 31, 2024.

We may incur additional costs not currently contemplated due to events that may occur as a result of, or that are associated with, pursuing and
evaluating potential strategic alternatives for the Company. We believe that our existing cash, cash equivalents, and short-term investments will be sufficient
to meet our cash requirements through at least the next 12 months. We are subject to all the risks related to the development and commercialization of any
future product candidates, including those discussed in the section titled “Risk Factors” under Part Il, Item 1A below.
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Cash Flows

The following table summarizes our cash flows for the three months ended March 31, 2024 and 2023 (unaudited and in thousands):

Three Months Ended March 31,

2024 2023
Net cash used in operating activities S (21,014) S (9,048)
Net cash provided by investing activities 13,757 18,507
Net cash provided by financing activities — 1,009
Net (decrease) increase in cash and cash equivalents S (7,257) S 10,468

Operating Activities

Net cash used in operating activities for the three months ended March 31, 2024 was $21.0 million, consisting primarily of our net loss of $8.4 million
adjusted for non-cash items of $0.3 million primarily due to $1.1 million of stock-based compensation expense and $0.1 million in non-cash lease expense,
offset by $0.9 million of amortization/accretion on short-term investments and a $12.9 million net change in operating assets and liabilities. The change in our
net operating assets and liabilities was primarily due to a decrease in prepaid and other current assets of $2.6 million, offset by a decrease in accounts
payable and accrued expenses of $15.4 million due to timing of payments.

Net cash used in operating activities for the three months ended March 31, 2023 was $9.0 million, consisting primarily of our net loss of $15.1 million
adjusted for non-cash items of $0.8 million primarily due to $1.2 million of stock-based compensation expense offset by $0.8 million of amortization/accretion
on short-term investments and a $5.2 million net change in operating assets and liabilities. The change in our net operating assets and liabilities was primarily
due to a decrease in prepaid and other current assets of $2.0 million and an increase in accounts payable and accrued expenses of $3.4 million primarily due
to timing of receipt of invoices.

Investing Activities

Net cash provided by investing activities for the three months ended March 31, 2024 and 2023 was $13.8 million and $18.5 million, respectively,
consisting primarily of the net proceeds from maturities of available-for-sale short-term investments.

Financing Activities
There were no cash flows from financing activities for the three months ended March 31, 2024.

Net cash provided by financing activities for the three months ended March 31, 2023 was primarily from issuance of common stock under the at-the-
market facility, net of offering costs.

Material Cash Requirements
The discussion below summarizes our significant contractual obligations and commitments as of March 31, 2024.

Leases. See Note 7 of Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements included in this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for information regarding our leases,
including the future operating lease minimum payments.

Performance Award. See Note 8 of Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements included in this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for information
regarding a special performance award that our chief executive officer may be entitled to receive, including the maximum payout.
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vTv License Agreement. See Note 9 of Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements included in this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for information
regarding the vTv License Agreement, including potential milestone and royalty payments.

In addition to the contractual obligations above, we also expect to have near term future material cash requirements associated with pursuing and
evaluating potential strategic alternatives for the Company.

Critical Accounting Policies and Estimates

Our management’s discussion and analysis of our financial condition and results of operations are based on our consolidated financial statements,
which have been prepared in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America. The preparation of these
consolidated financial statements requires us to make estimates and judgments that affect the reported amounts of assets, liabilities, and expenses and the
disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the consolidated financial statements. We base our estimates on historical experience, known
trends and events, and various other factors that we believe to be reasonable under the circumstances, the results of which form the basis for making
judgments about the carrying value of assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent from other sources. Actual results may differ materially from these
estimates under different assumptions or conditions.

Our critical accounting policies are described in the section titled “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of
Operations—Critical Accounting Policies and Estimates” in our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2023, and the notes to our
consolidated financial statements appearing elsewhere in this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q. During the three months ended March 31, 2024, there were
no material changes to our critical accounting policies from those discussed in our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2023.

Recent Accounting Pronouncements

See Note 2 of Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements included in this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for a description of recent accounting
pronouncements applicable to our consolidated financial statements.

Item 3. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk

Not required for smaller reporting companies.

Item 4. Controls and Procedures
Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedures

Our management, with the participation and supervision of our principal executive officer and our principal financial officer, have evaluated our
disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e) under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (the Exchange Act)),
as of the end of the period covered by this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q. Based on that evaluation, our principal executive officer and our principal financial
officer have concluded that as of March 31, 2024, our disclosure controls and procedures were effective to provide reasonable assurance that information we
are required to disclose in reports that we file or submit under the Exchange Act is recorded, processed, summarized, and reported within the time periods
specified in Securities and Exchange Commission (SEC) rules and forms, and that such information is accumulated and communicated to our management,
including our principal executive officer and our principal financial officer, as appropriate, to allow timely decisions regarding required disclosure.

Changes in Internal Control over Financial Reporting
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There have been no changes in our internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f) under the Exchange Act)
during the three months ended March 31, 2024 that materially affected, or are reasonably likely to materially affect, our internal control over financial
reporting.
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PART Il — OTHER INFORMATION

Item 1. Legal Proceedings

From time to time, we may become involved in legal proceedings arising in the ordinary course of our business. We are not currently a party to any
material legal proceedings. Regardless of outcome, litigation can have an adverse impact on us due to defense and settlement costs, diversion of
management resources, negative publicity, reputational harm and other factors, and there can be no assurances that favorable outcomes will be obtained.

Item 1A. Risk Factors

We face many risks and uncertainties, as more fully described in this section under the heading “Risk Factors.” Some of these risks and uncertainties are
summarized below. The summary below does not contain all of the information that may be important to you, and you should read this summary together
with the more detailed discussion of these risks and uncertainties contained in “Risk Factors.”

. We have incurred significant net losses since our inception in 2014 and anticipate that we will continue to incur net losses for the foreseeable
future.

. Our activities to evaluate and pursue potential strategic alternatives may not result in any definitive transaction or enhance stockholder value.

. If we fail to achieve the expected financial and operational benefits of our recent cash preservation activities, our business and financial results

may be harmed.

. We cannot ensure that patent rights relating to inventions described and claimed in our pending patent applications will issue or that patents
based on our patent applications will not be challenged and rendered invalid and/or unenforceable.

. If we fail to satisfy applicable listing standards, our common stock may be delisted from the Nasdaq Global Market.
. Our principal stockholders and management own a significant percentage of our stock and will be able to exert significant control over matters
subject to stockholder approval.

RISK FACTORS

An investment in shares of our common stock involves a high degree of risk. You should carefully consider the risks described below, as well as the other
information in this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q, including our consolidated financial statements and the related notes and “Management’s Discussion and
Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations” before deciding whether to purchase, hold or sell shares of our common stock. The occurrence of
any of the risks described below could harm our business, financial condition, results of operations, growth prospects, and/or stock price or cause our actual
results to differ materially from those contained in forward-looking statements we have made in this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q and those we may make
from time to time. You should consider all of the risk factors described when evaluating our business. We have marked with an asterisk (*) those risk factors
that reflect changes from the similarly titled risk factors included in our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2023.

Risks Related to Our Business and Industry
We have incurred significant net losses since our inception in 2014 and anticipate that we will continue to incur net losses for the foreseeable future.*

We are a pharmaceutical company founded in 2014. Prior to the recent suspension of our development activities for mavodelpar announced on
December 14, 2023, our operations focused primarily on raising capital,
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establishing and protecting our intellectual property portfolio, organizing and staffing our company, business planning, and conducting preclinical and clinical
development of, and manufacturing development for, our only product candidate, mavodelpar. As an organization, we have not yet demonstrated an ability to
successfully complete clinical development, obtain regulatory approvals, manufacture a commercial-scale product, or conduct sales and marketing activities
necessary for successful commercialization. Further, we have not yet demonstrated an ability to overcome many of the risks and uncertainties frequently
encountered by companies in new and rapidly evolving fields, particularly in the pharmaceutical area. Consequently, any predictions about our future
performance may not be as accurate as they would be if we had a history of successfully developing and commercializing pharmaceutical products.

Investment in pharmaceutical product development is highly speculative because it entails substantial upfront capital expenditures and significant risk
that any potential product candidate will fail to demonstrate adequate effectiveness in the targeted indication or an acceptable safety profile, gain regulatory
approval and become commercially viable. We have no products approved for commercial sale and have not generated any revenue to date, and we continue
to incur expenses related to our ongoing operations. As a result, we are not profitable and have incurred significant net losses since our inception. We may
never generate any revenue. For the three months ended March 31, 2024 and 2023, we reported a net loss of $8.4 million and $15.1 million, respectively. As
of March 31, 2024, we had an accumulated deficit of $226.9 million.

We expect to continue to incur significant losses for the foreseeable future. We may encounter unforeseen expenses, difficulties, complications,
delays, and other unknown factors that may adversely affect our business. The size of our future net losses will depend, in part, on the rate of future growth
of our expenses and our ability to generate revenues. Our prior net losses and expected future net losses have had and will continue to have an adverse effect
on our stockholders’ equity and working capital. Because of the numerous risks and uncertainties associated with our business, we are unable to accurately
predict the timing or amount of increased expenses, or when, if at all, we will be able to achieve profitability.

Our activities to evaluate and pursue potential strategic alternatives may not result in any definitive transaction or enhance stockholder value.

Following the suspension of development activities of our only product candidate, mavodelpar, we have begun evaluating and exploring a variety of
strategic alternatives focused on maximizing stockholder value, including, but not limited to, a merger, sale, other business combination, a strategic
partnership with one or more parties, or the licensing, sale or divestiture of our assets. Our ability to successfully execute on a strategic alternative is
dependent on a number of factors and we may not be able to execute upon a transaction or other strategic alternative upon favorable terms within an
advantageous timeframe and recognize significant value for these assets, if at all. Additionally, the negotiation and consummation of a transaction or other
strategic alternative may be costly and time-consuming. Any executed strategic alternative may not result in anticipated savings or other economic benefits,
could result in total costs and expenses that are greater than expected, could make it more difficult to attract and retain qualified personnel and may disrupt
our operations, each of which could have a material adverse effect on our business.

The current market price of our common stock may reflect a market assumption that a strategic alternative will occur, and a failure to complete a
strategic alternative could result in negative investor perceptions and could cause a decline in the market price of our common stock, which could adversely
affect our ability to access the equity and financial markets, as well as our ability to explore and enter into different strategic alternatives. There can be no
certainty that any strategic alternative will be completed, be on attractive terms, enhance stockholder value or deliver the anticipated benefits, and successful
integration or execution of the strategic alternatives will be subject to additional risks. In addition, potential strategic alternatives that require stockholder
approval may not be approved by our stockholders. If we do not successfully consummate a strategic alternative, our Board of Directors may decide to pursue
a dissolution and liquidation of our company. In such an event, the amount of cash available for distribution to our stockholders will depend heavily on the
timing of such liquidation, the amount of cash that will need to be reserved for commitments and contingent liabilities. Depending on these factors, the
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amount available for distribution to our common stockholders could be as low as $0.00 and result in a total loss of investment to our stockholders.

If we fail to achieve the expected financial and operational benefits of our recent cash preservation activities, our business and financial results may be
harmed.

Following the suspension of development activities of our only product candidate, mavodelpar, we implemented a reduction in workforce in
December 2023 and February 2024, which resulted in approximately $4.1 million in severance and continuation of benefit expenses. The estimates of the
costs we expect to incur, and the successful implementation of the restructuring activities pursuant to the cash preservation activities, are subject to a
number of assumptions, risks and uncertainties, and actual results may differ from the above-described estimates. We may also incur additional costs not
currently contemplated due to events that may occur as a result of, or that are associated with, the cash preservation activities. Restructuring activities may
also result in a loss of continuity, accumulated knowledge and inefficiency during transitional periods and thereafter. In addition, restructurings can require a
significant amount of time and focus from management and other employees, which may divert attention from our core business activities.

As a result of the negative data from our STRIDE clinical study and the reductions in our workforce that we implemented in December 2023 and February
2024, we may not be successful in retaining key employees. If we are unable to retain our remaining staff, our ability to identify and evaluate and pursue
strategic alternatives and consummate any strategic alternative will be seriously jeopardized.

We implemented a reduction in workforce in December 2023 and February 2024, and currently have eight full-time employees remaining. Our cash
preservation activities may yield unintended consequences, such as attrition beyond our reductions in workforce and reduced employee morale which may
cause our remaining employees to seek alternate employment. Competition among biotechnology companies for qualified employees is intense. Following
the suspension of development activities for mavodelpar, our ability to retain our key employees is critical to our ability to effectively manage our resources
to consummate a potential strategic transaction. In addition, as a result of the workforce reductions, we face an increased risk of employment litigation.

If we pursue further development of any other product candidates, we will need substantial additional capital to develop and commercialize such product
candidates and implement any such operating plan. If we fail to raise additional capital, we may be unable to begin or forced to delay, reduce or eliminate
any product development programs or commercialization efforts. *

Our operations have consumed substantial amounts of cash since our inception. In December 2023, we suspended the development activities of our
only product candidate, mavodelpar, and implemented cash preservation activities, including substantial workforce reductions. However, if we pursue further
development of any future product candidates, we will require significant additional amounts of capital in order to prepare for commercialization, and, if
approved, to launch and commercialize such product candidates. As of March 31, 2024, we had cash, cash equivalents and short-term investments of $82.8
million. Based on our current operating plan, we believe that our cash, cash equivalents and short-term investments as of March 31, 2024 will enable us to
fund our operating expenses and capital expenditure requirements through at least the next 12 months. However, changing circumstances may cause us to
consume capital significantly faster than we currently anticipate, and we may need to spend more money than currently expected because of circumstances
beyond our control. Our future capital requirements will depend on many factors, including:

. the success of our activities to evaluate and pursue strategic alternatives;
. the scope, progress, results and costs of clinical trials and preclinical studies for any product candidates;
. the scope, prioritization and number of our research and indications we pursue;
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. the costs and timing of manufacturing for any product candidates;

. the costs, timing, and outcome of regulatory review of any product candidates;

. the timing and amount of any future milestone or other payments to licensors;

. the terms and timing of establishing and maintaining collaborations, licenses and other similar arrangements;

. the costs of preparing, filing and prosecuting patent applications, maintaining and enforcing our intellectual property rights and defending

intellectual property-related claims;

. the extent to which we acquire or in-license other product candidates and technologies;
. the costs of securing manufacturing arrangements for commercial production;
. our ability to achieve sufficient market acceptance, coverage and adequate reimbursement from third-party payors and adequate market share

and revenue for any approved products; and
. the costs of establishing or contracting for sales and marketing capabilities if we obtain regulatory approvals to market any product candidates.

In any event, we will require additional capital for the development and commercialization of any product candidates. In addition, we may seek
additional capital due to favorable market conditions or strategic considerations even if we believe we have sufficient funds for our current or future
operating plans.

Until such time as we can generate significant revenue from sales of any product candidates, if ever, we expect to finance our operations through
public or private equity offerings or debt financings, credit or loan facilities, collaborations, strategic alliances, licensing arrangements or a combination of one
or more of these funding sources. Additional funds may not be available to us on acceptable terms or at all.

Our ability to raise additional funds may be adversely impacted by potential worsening global economic conditions and disruptions to, and volatility in,
the credit and financial markets in the United States and worldwide, including those resulting from armed conflicts, infectious diseases, bank failures, actual
or perceived changes in interest rates and economic inflation. We also could be required to seek collaborators for any product candidates at an earlier stage
than otherwise would be desirable or on terms that are less favorable than might otherwise be available or relinquish or license on unfavorable terms our
rights to product candidates in markets where we otherwise would seek to pursue development or commercialization ourselves.

We are not currently pursuing further clinical development of our only product candidate, mavodelpar. If we or a third party pursues further development
of mavodelpar or any future product candidates and are unable to advance such product candidates through clinical development, obtain regulatory
approvals, and ultimately commercialize such product candidates, or experience significant delays in doing so, our business will be materially harmed.

We are not currently pursuing further clinical development of our only product candidate, mavodelpar. The success of mavodelpar, if further
development is pursued, and any future product candidates will depend on several factors, including the following:

. successful enrollment in any future clinical trials and completion of such clinical trials with favorable results and passing applicable good clinical
practice (GCP) inspections;

. acceptance by the U.S. Food and Drug Administration (FDA) and European Medicines Agency (EMA) of data from such future clinical trials;

. demonstration of a positive risk/benefit profile for such product candidate in the relevant patient population, to the satisfaction of applicable
regulatory authorities;

. meeting chemistry, manufacturing and controls (CMC) requirements and passing applicable good manufacturing practice inspections;
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. the outcome, timing, and cost of meeting regulatory requirements established by the FDA, EMA, and other comparable foreign regulatory
authorities;

. receipt of marketing approvals from applicable regulatory authorities, including one or more new drug application (NDA) from the FDA and
marketing authorizations from the European Commission (based on the opinion of the Committee for Medicinal Products for Human Use
(CHMP) of the EMA, and maintaining such approvals);

. establishing commercial manufacturing relationships and receiving/importing commercial supplies approved by the FDA and other regulatory
authorities from any future third-party manufacturer;

. establishing sales, marketing, and distribution capabilities and commercializing such product candidate, if approved, whether alone or in
collaboration with others;

. acceptance, if and when approved, by patients, the medical community and third-party payors;

. obtaining and maintaining third-party coverage and adequate reimbursement;

. establishing and maintaining patent and trade secret protection and regulatory exclusivity for such product candidate;
. maintaining an acceptable risk/benefit safety profile of such product candidate following approval; and

. maintaining and growing an organization of people who can develop and commercialize such product candidate.

If we or a third party does not achieve one or more of these factors, many of which are beyond our control, in a timely manner or at all, we or a third
party could experience significant delays or an inability to develop, obtain regulatory approvals or commercialize any product candidates.

Even if regulatory approvals are obtained, we or a third party may never be able to successfully commercialize any product candidates. In addition, we
will need to transition at some point from a company with a historical development focus to a company capable of supporting commercial activities. We may
not be successful in such a transition. Accordingly, we may not be able to generate sufficient revenue through the sale of any product candidates to continue
our business.

Use of any product candidates could be associated with side effects, adverse events or other properties that could delay or prevent regulatory approval or
result in significant negative consequences following marketing approval, if any.

As is the case with pharmaceuticals generally, it is likely that there may be side effects and adverse events associated with the use of any product
candidates. We are not currently pursuing further clinical development of our only product candidate, mavodelpar. However, if we or a third party decides to
pursue further development of mavodelpar or any future product candidates, results of such clinical trials could reveal a high and unacceptable severity and
prevalence of side effects or unexpected characteristics. Undesirable side effects caused by such product candidates could cause us or regulatory authorities
to interrupt, delay or halt clinical trials and could result in a more restrictive label or the delay or denial of regulatory approval by the FDA or other
comparable foreign authorities. If drug-related serious adverse events are observed, such trials could be suspended or terminated, and the FDA or
comparable foreign regulatory authorities could order us to cease further development of or deny approval for such product candidates for any or all targeted
indications. The drug-related side effects could affect patient recruitment or the ability of enrolled patients to complete the trial or result in potential product
liability claims. Any of these occurrences may harm our business, financial condition, results of operations and prospects significantly.

Additionally, if any product candidates receive marketing approval, and we or others later identify undesirable side effects caused by such product
candidate, a number of potentially significant negative consequences could result, including:
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. we may be forced to suspend marketing of that product, or decide to remove the product from the marketplace;
. regulatory authorities may withdraw approvals or change their approvals of such product;

. regulatory authorities may require additional warnings on the label or limit access of that product to selective specialized centers with
additional safety reporting and with requirements that patients be geographically close to these centers for all or part of their treatment;

. we may be required to create a medication guide outlining the risks of such side effects for distribution to patients;
. we may be required to change the way the product is administered;
. we could be subject to fines, injunctions, or the imposition of criminal or civil penalties, or sued and held liable for harm caused to subjects or

patients; and
. the product may become less competitive, and our reputation may suffer.

Any of these events could prevent us from achieving or maintaining market acceptance of a product candidate, if approved, and could significantly
harm our business, results of operations, and prospects.

The regulatory approval process is lengthy, expensive and uncertain, and we may be unable to obtain regulatory approval for our product candidates
under applicable regulatory requirements. The denial or delay of any such approval would delay commercialization of our or any third party’s product
candidates and adversely impact our ability to generate revenue, our business and our results of operations.

The clinical development, manufacturing, labeling, storage, record-keeping, advertising, promotion, import, export, marketing, and distribution of any
product candidates is subject to extensive regulation by the FDA in the United States and by comparable foreign regulatory authorities in foreign markets. In
the United States, we are not permitted to market any product candidates until we receive regulatory approval from the FDA. The process of obtaining
regulatory approval is expensive, often takes many years following the commencement of clinical trials and can vary substantially based upon the type,
complexity, and novelty of the product candidates involved, as well as the target indications and patient population. Approval policies or regulations may
change, and the FDA has substantial discretion in the drug approval process, including the ability to delay, limit, or deny approval of a product candidate for
many reasons. Despite the time and expense invested in clinical development of product candidates, regulatory approval is never guaranteed. Neither we nor
any future collaborator is permitted to market any product candidates in the United States until we receive approval of an NDA from the FDA. We have not
previously submitted an NDA to the FDA, or similar drug approval filings to comparable foreign authorities.

Prior to obtaining approval to commercialize a product candidate in the United States or in foreign markets, we must demonstrate with substantial
evidence from adequate and well-controlled clinical trials, and to the satisfaction of the FDA or comparable foreign regulatory authorities, that such product
candidates are safe and effective for their intended uses. Results from nonclinical studies and clinical trials can be interpreted in different ways. Even if we
believe the nonclinical or clinical data for any product candidates are promising, such data may not be sufficient to support approval by the FDA and
comparable foreign regulatory authorities. The FDA or comparable foreign regulatory authorities, as the case may be, may also require us to conduct
additional preclinical studies or clinical trials for any product candidates either prior to or post-approval, or may object to elements of our clinical
development program.

Any product candidates could fail to receive regulatory approval for many reasons, including the following:

. serious and unexpected drug-related side effects may be experienced by participants in any future clinical trials or by people using drugs similar
to or in the same class as such product candidates;

. the population studied in the clinical trial may not be sufficiently broad or representative to assure safety in the full population for which we
seek approval;
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. the FDA or comparable foreign regulatory authorities may not accept clinical data from trials which are conducted at clinical facilities or in
countries where the standard of care is potentially different from that of the United States;

. we may be unable to demonstrate to the satisfaction of the FDA or comparable foreign regulatory authorities that a product candidate is safe
and effective for any of its proposed indications;

. the results of clinical trials may not meet the level of statistical significance required by the FDA or comparable foreign regulatory authorities for
approval;

. we may be unable to demonstrate that a product candidate’s clinical and other benefits outweigh its safety risks;

. the FDA or comparable foreign regulatory authorities may disagree with our interpretation of data from preclinical studies or clinical trials;

. the data collected from clinical trials of such product candidates may not be sufficient to satisfy the FDA or comparable foreign regulatory

authorities to support the submission of an NDA or other comparable submissions in foreign jurisdictions or to obtain regulatory approval in
the United States or elsewhere;

. the FDA or comparable foreign regulatory authorities may fail to approve the manufacturing processes or facilities of third-party manufacturers
with which we contract for clinical and commercial supplies; and

. the approval policies or regulations of the FDA or comparable foreign regulatory authorities may significantly change in a manner rendering our
clinical data insufficient for approval.

Any of the above events could prevent us from achieving market approval of any product candidates and could substantially increase the costs of
commercializing such product candidates. The demand for any product candidates could also be negatively impacted by any adverse effects of a competitor’s
product or treatment.

Of the large number of drugs in development, only a small percentage successfully complete the FDA or foreign regulatory approval processes and are
commercialized. The lengthy approval process as well as the unpredictability of future clinical trial results may result in our failing to obtain regulatory
approval to market any product candidates, which would significantly harm our business, financial condition, results of operations and prospects.

Even if we eventually complete clinical trials and receive approval of an NDA or foreign marketing application for any product candidates, the FDA or
comparable foreign regulatory authority may grant approval contingent on the performance of costly additional clinical trials, including Phase 4 clinical trials,
and/or the implementation of a REMS which may be required to ensure safe use of the drug after approval. The FDA or the comparable foreign regulatory
authority also may approve a product candidate for a more limited indication or patient population than we originally requested, and the FDA or comparable
foreign regulatory authority may not approve the labeling that we believe is necessary or desirable for the successful commercialization of a product. Any
delay in obtaining, or inability to obtain, applicable regulatory approval would delay or prevent commercialization of that product candidate and would
materially adversely impact our business and prospects.

Preliminary, interim and topline data from our clinical trials that we announce or publish from time to time may change as more patient data become
available and are subject to audit and verification procedures that could result in material changes in the final data.

We are not currently pursuing further clinical development of our only product candidate, mavodelpar. However, if we or a third party decides to
pursue further development of mavodelpar or of any future product candidates, we may publicly disclose, from time to time, interim, topline, or preliminary
data from such clinical trials, which is based on a preliminary analysis of then-available data, and the results and related findings and conclusions are subject
to change following a more comprehensive review of the data related to the particular
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study or trial. We also make assumptions, estimations, calculations, and conclusions as part of our analyses of data, and we may not have received or had the
opportunity to fully and carefully evaluate all data. As a result, the interim, topline, or preliminary results that we report may differ from future results of the
same studies, or different conclusions or considerations may qualify such results, once additional data have been received and fully evaluated. Interim,
topline, and preliminary data also remain subject to audit and verification procedures that may result in the final data being materially different from the
preliminary data we previously published. As a result, such data should be viewed with caution until the final data are available. Adverse differences between
preliminary, interim, or topline data and final data could significantly harm our business prospects.

Further, others, including regulatory agencies, may not accept or agree with our assumptions, estimates, calculations, conclusions, or analyses or may
interpret or weigh the importance of data differently, which could impact the value of the particular program, the approvability, or commercialization of the
particular product candidate or product and our company in general. In addition, the information we choose to publicly disclose regarding a particular study
or clinical trial is based on what is typically extensive information, and you or others may not agree with what we determine is the material or otherwise
appropriate information to include in our disclosure, and any information we determine not to disclose may ultimately be deemed significant with respect to
future decisions, conclusions, views, activities or otherwise regarding a particular product, product candidate, or our business. If the interim, topline, or
preliminary data that we report differ from actual results, or if others, including regulatory authorities, disagree with the conclusions reached, our ability to
obtain approval for, and commercialize, any product candidates may be harmed, which could harm our business, operating results, prospects, or financial
condition.

Obtaining and maintaining regulatory approval for a product candidate in one jurisdiction does not mean that we will be successful in obtaining
regulatory approval for that product candidate in other jurisdictions.

Obtaining and maintaining regulatory approval for a product candidate in one jurisdiction does not guarantee that we will be able to obtain or
maintain regulatory approval in any other jurisdiction, while a failure or delay in obtaining regulatory approval in one jurisdiction may have a negative effect
on the regulatory approval process in others. For example, even if the FDA grants marketing approval for a product candidate, comparable regulatory
authorities in foreign jurisdictions must also approve the manufacturing, marketing and promotion of the product candidate in those countries before we can
begin to commercialize it. Approval procedures vary among jurisdictions and can involve requirements and administrative review periods different from, and
greater than, those in the United States, including additional preclinical studies or clinical trials as clinical trials conducted in one jurisdiction may not be
accepted by regulatory authorities in other jurisdictions. In many jurisdictions outside the United States, a product candidate must be approved for
reimbursement before it can be approved for sale in that jurisdiction.

As with the FDA, obtaining a Marketing Authorization Application, issued by the European Commission, based on the opinion of the CHMP of the EMA,
is a similarly lengthy and expensive process. Regulatory authorities in jurisdictions outside of the United States and the European Union (EU) also have
requirements for approval for product candidates with which we must comply prior to marketing in those jurisdictions. Obtaining foreign regulatory approvals
and compliance with foreign regulatory requirements could result in significant delays, difficulties and costs for us and could delay or prevent the introduction
of any product candidates in certain countries. If we fail to comply with the regulatory requirements in international markets and/or receive applicable
marketing approvals, our target market will be reduced and our ability to realize the full market potential of any product candidates will be harmed, which
would adversely affect our business, prospects, financial condition, and results of operations.

We currently have no marketing and sales organization. If we are unable to establish marketing and sales capabilities or enter into agreements with third
parties to market and sell any product candidates, we may not be able to generate product revenues.

We currently do not have a commercial organization for the marketing, sales, and distribution of pharmaceutical products. We are not currently
pursuing further clinical development of our only product
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candidate, mavodelpar. However, if we or a third party decides to pursue further development of mavodelpar or any future product candidate, which obtains
approval for marketing, we will have to build our marketing, sales, distribution, managerial and other non-technical capabilities or make arrangements with
third parties to perform these services.

The establishment and development of our own sales force or the establishment of a contract sales force to market any product candidates will be
expensive and time-consuming and could delay any commercial launch. Moreover, we may not be able to successfully develop this capability. We will have to
compete with other pharmaceutical and biotechnology companies to recruit, hire, train, and retain marketing and sales personnel. We will also face
competition in our search for third parties to assist us with the sales and marketing efforts of any product candidates. To the extent we rely on third parties to
commercialize such product candidates, if approved, we may have little or no control over the marketing and sales efforts of such third parties and our
revenues from product sales may be lower than if we had commercialized such product candidates ourselves. In the event we are unable to develop our own
marketing and sales force or collaborate with a third-party marketing and sales organization, we would not be able to commercialize any product candidates.

If we receive regulatory approval for any product candidates, we will be subject to ongoing regulatory obligations and continued regulatory review, which
may result in significant additional expense, and we may be subject to penalties if we fail to comply with regulatory requirements or experience
unanticipated problems with any product.

We are not currently pursuing further clinical development of our only product candidate, mavodelpar. However, if we or a third party decides to
pursue further development of mavodelpar or any future product candidates, any regulatory approvals received may be subject to limitations on the
approved indicated uses for which the product may be marketed or to the conditions of approval, or contain requirements for potentially costly post-
marketing testing, including post-market studies or clinical trials, and surveillance to monitor safety and effectiveness. The FDA may also require us to adopt a
risk evaluation and mitigation strategy (REMS) to ensure that the benefits of treatment with such product candidate outweigh the risks for each potential
patient, which may include, among other things, a communication plan to health care practitioners, patient education, extensive patient monitoring, or
distribution systems and processes that are highly controlled, restrictive and more costly than what is typical for the industry. We or our collaborators may
also be required to adopt a REMS or engage in similar actions, such as patient education, certification of health care professionals, or specific monitoring, if
we or others later identify undesirable side effects caused by any product that we develop alone or with collaborators.

In addition, if the FDA or a comparable foreign regulatory authority approves a product candidate, the manufacturing, quality control, labeling,
packaging, distribution, adverse event reporting, storage, advertising, promotion, import, export, and recordkeeping for the approved product will be subject
to extensive and ongoing regulatory requirements. The FDA and comparable foreign regulatory authorities also require submissions of safety and other post-
marketing information and reports, registration, as well as continued compliance with current good manufacturing practice (cGMP) requirements and GCP for
any clinical trials that we conduct post-approval. Later discovery of previously unknown problems with a product candidate, including adverse events of
unanticipated severity or frequency, or with our third-party manufacturers or manufacturing processes, or failure to comply with regulatory requirements,
may result in, among other things:

. issue warning letters or untitled letters;

. mandate modifications to promotional materials or require us to provide corrective information to healthcare practitioners, or require other
restrictions on the labeling or marketing of such products;

. require us to enter into a consent decree, which can include imposition of various fines, reimbursements for inspection costs, required due
dates for specific actions and penalties for noncompliance;

. seek an injunction or impose civil or criminal penalties or monetary fines;
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. suspend, withdraw or modify regulatory approval;

. suspend or modify any ongoing clinical trials;

. refuse to approve pending applications or supplements to applications filed by us;

. suspend or impose restrictions on operations, including costly new manufacturing requirements; or

. seize or detain products, refuse to permit the import or export of products, or require us to initiate a product recall.

The occurrence of any event or penalty described above may inhibit our ability to commercialize any product candidates and generate revenue and
could require us to expend significant time and resources in response and could generate negative publicity.

Advertising and promotion of any product candidate that obtains approval in the United States will be heavily scrutinized by the FDA, the U.S. Federal
Trade Commission, the Department of Justice (the DOJ), the Office of Inspector General of the U.S. Department of Health and Human Services (HHS), state
attorneys general, members of the U.S. Congress, and the public. Additionally, advertising and promotion of any product candidate that obtains approval
outside of the United States will be heavily scrutinized by comparable foreign entities and stakeholders. Violations, including actual or alleged promotion of
our products for unapproved or off-label uses, are subject to enforcement letters, inquiries, and investigations, and civil and criminal sanctions by the FDA,
DOJ, or comparable foreign bodies. Any actual or alleged failure to comply with labeling and promotion requirements may result in fines, warning letters,
mandates to corrective information to healthcare practitioners, injunctions, or civil or criminal penalties.

The FDA's and other regulatory authorities’ policies may change, and additional government regulations may be enacted that could prevent, limit or
delay regulatory approval for any product candidates. If we are slow or unable to adapt to changes in existing requirements or the adoption of new
requirements or policies, or if we are not able to maintain regulatory compliance, we may lose any marketing approval that we may have obtained and we
may not achieve or sustain profitability, which would adversely affect our business, prospects, financial condition, and results of operations.

Disruptions at FDA and other U.S. and foreign government agencies caused by funding shortages or global health concerns could hinder their ability to
hire and retain key leadership and other personnel, or otherwise prevent new products and services from being developed or commercialized in a timely
manner, which could negatively impact our business.

The ability of the FDA and comparable foreign regulatory authorities to review and approve new products can be affected by a variety of factors,
including government budget and funding levels, ability to hire and retain key personnel and accept the payment of user fees, and statutory, regulatory, and
policy changes. Average review times at the FDA have fluctuated in recent years as a result. In addition, government funding of other government agencies
that fund research and development activities is subject to the political process, which is inherently fluid and unpredictable.

Disruptions at the FDA and other U.S. and foreign agencies such as the EMA, following its relocation to Amsterdam and resulting staff changes, may
also slow the time necessary for new drugs to be reviewed and/or approved by necessary government agencies, which would adversely affect our business.
For example, over the last several years, including for 35 days beginning on December 22, 2018, the U.S. government has shut down several times and certain
regulatory agencies, such as the FDA, have had to furlough critical FDA employees and stop critical activities. If a prolonged government shutdown occurs, it
could significantly impact the ability of the FDA to timely review and process our regulatory submissions, which could have a material adverse effect on our
business.
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Even if we obtain regulatory approval for any product candidates, such product candidates may not gain market acceptance among physicians, patients,
healthcare payors and others in the medical community.

We are not currently pursuing further clinical development of our only product candidate, mavodelpar. However, if we or a third party decides to
pursue further development of mavodelpar or any other product candidates that obtain regulatory approval, such product candidates may not be
commercially successful. The commercial success of such product candidates, if approved, will depend significantly on the broad adoption and use of such
product by physicians and patients for approved indications. The degree of market acceptance of such future products, if approved, will depend on a number
of factors, including:

. the clinical indications for which such product candidate is approved;

. physicians and patients considering the product as a safe and effective treatment;

. the potential and perceived advantages of the product over alternative treatments;

. the prevalence and severity of any side effects;

. product labeling or product insert requirements of the FDA or other regulatory authorities;

. limitations or warnings contained in the labeling approved by the FDA or other regulatory authorities;

. the timing of market introduction of the product as well as competitive products;

. the cost of treatment in relation to alternative treatments;

. the availability of coverage and adequate reimbursement by third-party payors and government authorities;

. the willingness of patients to pay out-of-pocket in the absence of coverage and adequate reimbursement by third-party payors and government
authorities;

. relative convenience and ease of administration, including as compared to alternative treatments and competitive therapies; and

. the effectiveness of our sales and marketing efforts and those of any collaboration or distribution partner on whom we rely for sales in foreign

jurisdictions.

If any product candidate is approved but fails to achieve market acceptance among physicians, patients, healthcare payors or others in the medical
community, we will not be able to generate significant revenues, which would have a material adverse effect on our business, prospects, financial condition,
and results of operations. In addition, even if a product candidate gains acceptance, the markets for the treatment of patients with indications we may pursue
may not be as significant as we estimate.

If any product candidate is approved for marketing, and we are found to have improperly promoted off-label uses, we may become subject to prohibitions
on the sale or marketing of such product candidate, significant fines, penalties, sanctions, or product liability claims, and our image and reputation within
the industry and marketplace could be harmed.

The FDA, DOJ, and comparable foreign authorities strictly regulate the marketing and promotional claims that are made about pharmaceutical
products, if approved. In particular, a product may not be promoted for uses or indications that are not approved by the FDA or comparable foreign
authorities as reflected in the product’s approved labeling. However, if we receive marketing approval for any product candidates, physicians can prescribe
such product to their patients in a manner that is inconsistent with the approved label in their independent professional judgment. If we are found to have
promoted such off-label uses, we may receive warning letters from the FDA and comparable foreign authorities and become subject to significant liability,
which would materially harm our business. The federal government has levied large civil and criminal fines against companies for alleged improper promotion
and has enjoined several companies from engaging in off-label promotion. If we become the target of such an investigation or prosecution based on our
marketing and promotional practices, we could face
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similar sanctions, which would materially harm our business. In addition, management’s attention could be diverted from our business operations, significant
legal expenses could be incurred, and our reputation could be damaged. The FDA and other U.S. and foreign governmental authorities have also required that
companies enter into consent decrees or imposed permanent injunctions under which specified promotional conduct is changed or curtailed in order to
resolve enforcement actions. If we are deemed by the FDA, DOJ, or other U.S. and foreign governmental authorities to have engaged in the promotion of any
product candidate for off-label use, we could be subject to certain prohibitions or other restrictions on the sale or marketing and other operations or
significant fines and penalties, and the imposition of these sanctions could also affect our reputation and position within the industry.

Coverage and reimbursement may be limited or unavailable in certain market segments for any product candidates, which could make it difficult for us to
sell such product candidates profitably.

Successful sales of any product candidates, if approved, depend on the availability of coverage and adequate reimbursement from third-party payors.
Patients who are prescribed medicine for the treatment of their conditions generally rely on third-party payors to reimburse all or part of the costs associated
with their prescription drugs. Coverage and adequate reimbursement from governmental healthcare programs, such as Medicare and Medicaid, and
commercial payors is critical to new product acceptance, and we may not obtain such coverage or adequate reimbursement.

Government authorities and third-party payors, such as private health insurers and health maintenance organizations, decide which drugs they will
cover and the amount of reimbursement they will provide. Reimbursement by a third-party payor may depend upon a number of factors, including, but not
limited to, the third-party payor’s determination that use of a product is:

. a covered benefit under its health plan;
. safe, effective, and medically necessary;
. appropriate for the specific patient;

. cost-effective; and

. neither experimental nor investigational.

Obtaining coverage and reimbursement approval for a product from a government or other third-party payor is a time-consuming and costly process
that could require us to provide to the payor supporting scientific, clinical and cost-effectiveness data for the use of our products. We may not be able to
provide data sufficient to obtain coverage and adequate reimbursement. Assuming we obtain coverage for a given product, the resulting reimbursement
payment rates might not be adequate or may require co-payments that patients find unacceptably high. Patients are unlikely to use a product candidate
unless coverage is provided, and reimbursement is adequate to cover a significant portion of the cost. Additionally, the reimbursement rates and coverage
amounts may be affected by the approved label for such product candidate. If coverage and reimbursement of our future products are unavailable or limited
in scope or amount, or if pricing is set at unsatisfactory levels, we may be unable to achieve or sustain profitability.

In addition, the market for any product candidates will depend significantly on access to third-party payors’ drug formularies or lists of medications for
which third-party payors provide coverage and reimbursement. The industry competition to be included in such formularies often leads to downward pricing
pressures on pharmaceutical companies. Also, third-party payors may refuse to include a particular branded drug in their formularies or otherwise restrict
patient access through formulary controls or otherwise to a branded drug when a less costly generic equivalent or another alternative is available.

In the United States, no uniform policy of coverage and reimbursement for drug products exists among third-party payors. Third-party payors often
rely upon Medicare coverage policy and payment limitations in setting their own reimbursement rates, but also have their own methods and approval process
apart from Medicare
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determinations. Therefore, coverage and reimbursement for drug products can differ significantly from payor to payor. As a result, the coverage
determination process is often a time-consuming and costly process that will require us to provide scientific and clinical support for the use of any product
candidates to each payor separately, with no assurance that coverage and adequate reimbursement will be obtained. Coverage policies and third-party payor
reimbursement rates may change at any time. Therefore, even if favorable coverage and reimbursement status is attained, less favorable coverage policies
and reimbursement rates may be implemented in the future.

If we obtain approval in one or more foreign jurisdictions for a product candidate, we will be subject to rules and regulations in those jurisdictions. In
some foreign countries, including those in the EU, the pricing of prescription pharmaceuticals and biologics is subject to governmental control. In these
countries, pricing negotiations with governmental authorities can take considerable time after obtaining marketing approval for a drug candidate and in some
countries, products cannot be marketed until after such a price has been agreed. In addition, market acceptance and sales of a product will depend
significantly on the availability of coverage and adequate reimbursement from third-party payors for a product and may be affected by existing and future
health care reform measures.

Recently enacted legislation, future legislation and healthcare reform measures may increase the difficulty and cost for us to obtain marketing approval
for and commercialize any product candidates and may affect the prices we may set.*

In the United States and some foreign jurisdictions, there have been, and we expect there will continue to be, a number of legislative and regulatory
changes to the healthcare system, including cost-containment measures that may reduce or limit coverage and reimbursement for newly approved drugs and
affect our ability to profitably sell any product candidates for which we obtain marketing approval. In particular, there have been and continue to be a number
of initiatives at the U.S. federal and state levels that seek to reduce healthcare costs and improve the quality of healthcare.

For example, in March 2010, the Patient Protection and Affordable Care Act, as amended by the Health Care and Education Reconciliation Act
(collectively, the Affordable Care Act) was enacted in the United States. Among the provisions of the Affordable Care Act of importance to our potential
product candidates, the Affordable Care Act: established an annual, nondeductible fee on any entity that manufactures or imports specified branded
prescription drugs and biologic agents; expands eligibility criteria for Medicaid programs; increased the statutory minimum rebates a manufacturer must pay
under the Medicaid Drug Rebate Program; created a new Medicare Part D coverage gap discount program; established a new Patient-Centered Outcomes
Research Institute to oversee, identify priorities in and conduct comparative clinical effectiveness research, along with funding for such research; and
established a Center for Medicare and Medicaid Innovation at the Centers for Medicare & Medicaid Services (CMS) to test innovative payment and service
delivery models to lower Medicare and Medicaid spending.

There have been judicial, executive and Congressional challenges to certain aspects of the Affordable Care Act. By way of example, on June 17, 2021,
the U.S. Supreme Court dismissed a challenge on procedural grounds that argued the Affordable Care Act is unconstitutional in its entirety because the
“individual mandate” was repealed by Congress. Further, on August 16, 2022, President Biden signed the Inflation Reduction Act of 2022 (IRA) into law, which
among other things, extends enhanced subsidies for individuals purchasing health insurance coverage in Affordable Care Act marketplaces through plan year
2025. The IRA also eliminates the “donut hole” under the Medicare Part D program beginning in 2025 by significantly lowering the beneficiary maximum out-
of-pocket cost and creating a newly established manufacturer discount program. The IRA has been subject to judicial challenges claiming that certain
provisions of IRA are unconstitutional. It is unclear how any such challenges and the healthcare reform measures of the Biden administration will impact the
Affordable Care Act, IRA and our business.

In addition, other legislative changes have been proposed and adopted since the Affordable Care Act was enacted. On August 2, 2011, the Budget
Control Act of 2011 was signed into law, which, among other things, included aggregate reductions to Medicare payments to providers of 2% per fiscal year,
which went into effect on April 1, 2013 and, due to subsequent legislative amendments to the statute, including the Infrastructure Investments and Jobs Act
and Consolidated Appropriations Act of 2023, will remain in effect until 2032.
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Additionally, the American Rescue Plan Act of 2021 eliminated the statutory Medicaid drug rebate cap, previously set at 100% of a drug’s average
manufacturer price, for single source and innovator multiple source drugs, effective January 1, 2024. In addition, on January 2, 2013, the American Taxpayer
Relief Act of 2012 was signed into law, which, among other things, reduced Medicare payments to several providers, including hospitals, and increased the
statute of limitations period for the government to recover overpayments to providers from three to five years.

Further, there has been heightened governmental scrutiny in the United States of pharmaceutical pricing practices in light of the rising cost of
prescription drugs. Such scrutiny has resulted in several recent congressional inquiries, presidential executive orders and proposed and enacted federal and
state legislation designed to, among other things, bring more transparency to product pricing, review the relationship between pricing and manufacturer
patient programs, and reform government program reimbursement methodologies for products.

At the federal level, in July 2021, the Biden administration released an executive order, “Promoting Competition in the American Economy,” with
multiple provisions aimed at prescription drugs. In response to Biden’s executive order, on September 9, 2021, HHS released a Comprehensive Plan for
Addressing High Drug Prices that outlines principles for drug pricing reform and sets out a variety of potential legislative policies that Congress could pursue
as well as potential administrative actions HHS can take to advance these principles. In addition, the IRA, among other things, (1) directs HHS to negotiate the
price of certain high-cost, single-source drugs and biologics covered under Medicare and (2) imposes rebates under Medicare Part B and Medicare Part D to
penalize price increases that outpace inflation. The IRA permits HHS to implement many of these provisions through guidance, as opposed to regulation, for
the initial years. These provisions will take effect progressively starting in fiscal year 2023. On August 29, 2023, HHS announced the list of the first ten drugs
that will be subject to price negotiations, although the Medicare drug price negotiation program is currently subject to legal challenges. HHS has and will
continue to issue and update guidance as these programs are implemented. It is currently unclear how the IRA will be implemented but is likely to have a
significant impact on the pharmaceutical industry. Further, in response to the Biden administration’s October 2022 executive order, on February 14, 2023,
HHS released a report outlining three new models for testing by the Center for Medicare and Medicaid Innovation which will be evaluated on their ability to
lower the cost of drugs, promote accessibility, and improve quality of care. It is unclear whether the models will be utilized in any health reform measures in
the future. Further, on December 7, 2023, the Biden administration announced an initiative to control the price of prescription drugs through the use of
march-in rights under the Bayh-Dole Act. On December 8, 2023, the National Institute of Standards and Technology published for comment a Draft
Interagency Guidance Framework for Considering the Exercise of March-In Rights which for the first time includes the price of a product as one factor an
agency can use when deciding to exercise march-in rights. While march-in rights have not previously been exercised, it is uncertain if that will continue under
the new framework.

At the state level, individual states in the United States have also increasingly passed legislation and implemented regulations designed to control
pharmaceutical and biological product pricing, including price or patient reimbursement constraints, discounts, restrictions on certain product access and
marketing cost disclosure and transparency measures, and, in some cases, designed to encourage importation from other countries and bulk purchasing. For
example, on January 5, 2024, the FDA approved Florida’s Section 804 Importation Program (SIP) proposal to import certain drugs from Canada for specific
state healthcare programs. It is unclear how this program will be implemented, including which drugs will be chosen, and whether it will be subject to legal
challenges in the United States or Canada. Other states have also submitted SIP proposals that are pending review by the FDA. Any such approved
importation plans, when implemented, may result in lower drug prices for products covered by those programs. Legally mandated price controls on payment
amounts by third-party payors or other restrictions could harm our business, results of operations, financial condition, and prospects. In addition, regional
healthcare authorities and individual hospitals are increasingly using bidding procedures to determine what pharmaceutical products and which suppliers will
be included in their prescription drug and other healthcare programs.

We cannot predict the likelihood, nature, or extent of health reform initiatives that may arise from future legislation or administrative action. We
expect that the Affordable Care Act and other healthcare reform measures, including those that may be adopted in the future may result in additional
reductions in Medicare and other
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healthcare funding, more rigorous coverage criteria, new payment methodologies and additional downward pressure on the price that we receive for any
approved product. Any reduction in reimbursement from Medicare or other government programs may result in a similar reduction in payments from third-
party payors. The implementation of cost containment measures or other healthcare reforms may prevent us from being able to generate revenue, attain
profitability or commercialize any product candidates, if approved.

We may form or seek strategic alliances or enter into additional licensing arrangements in the future, and we may not realize the benefits of such alliances
or licensing arrangements.

We may form or seek strategic alliances, create joint ventures or collaborations or enter into additional licensing arrangements with third parties for
the development and commercialization of product candidates we may choose to develop. We may also establish commercial partnerships outside of the
United States and key European markets. Any of these relationships may require us to incur non-recurring and other charges, increase our near-and long-term
expenditures, issue securities that dilute our existing stockholders, or disrupt our management and business. In addition, we face significant competition in
seeking appropriate strategic partners and the negotiation process is time-consuming and complex. If we license products or businesses, we may not be able
to realize the benefit of such transactions if we are unable to successfully integrate them with our existing operations and company culture. Following a
strategic transaction or license, we may not achieve the revenues or cash flows that justifies such transaction. Any delays in entering into new strategic
partnership agreements could delay the development and commercialization of such product candidates, which would harm our business prospects, financial
condition, and results of operations.

Our employees, independent contractors, principal investigators, CROs, consultants, and vendors may engage in misconduct or other improper activities,
including noncompliance with regulatory standards and requirements.

We are exposed to the risk that employees, independent contractors, principal investigators, CROs, consultants, and vendors may engage in fraudulent
or other illegal activity. Misconduct by these parties could include intentional, reckless and/or negligent conduct or disclosure of unauthorized activities to us
that violates: (i) the rules of the FDA and other similar foreign regulatory bodies, including those rules that require the reporting of true, complete, and
accurate information to the FDA and other similar foreign regulatory bodies; (i) manufacturing standards; (iii) healthcare fraud and abuse laws in the United
States and similar foreign fraudulent misconduct laws or (iv) laws that require the true, complete, and accurate reporting of our financial information or data.
These laws may impact, among other things, our current activities with principal investigators and research subjects, as well as proposed and future sales,
marketing, and education programs. In particular, the promotion, sales, and marketing of healthcare items and services, as well as certain business
arrangements in the healthcare industry, are subject to extensive laws designed to prevent fraud, kickbacks, self-dealing, and other abusive practices. These
laws and regulations may restrict or prohibit a wide range of pricing, discounting, marketing and promotion, structuring and commission(s), certain customer
incentive programs, and other business arrangements generally. Activities subject to these laws also involve the improper use of information obtained in the
course of patient recruitment for clinical trials.

If we obtain regulatory approval for a product candidate and begin commercializing such product in the United States, the EU and other countries or
jurisdictions, our potential exposure under the laws of such countries and jurisdictions will increase significantly, and our costs associated with compliance
with such laws are also likely to increase. If any such actions are instituted against us, and we are not successful in defending ourselves or asserting our rights,
those actions could have a significant impact on our business, including the imposition of significant civil, criminal and administrative penalties, damages,
disgorgement, monetary fines, imprisonment, possible exclusion from participation in Medicare, Medicaid and other federal healthcare programs and
equivalent foreign healthcare programs, additional reporting requirements and/or oversight if we become subject to a corporate integrity agreement or
similar agreement to resolve allegations of non-compliance with these laws, contractual damages, reputational harm, diminished profits and future earnings,
and curtailment of our operations.
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Our relationships with customers, healthcare providers, and third-party payors may be subject, directly or indirectly, to federal, state and comparable
foreign healthcare fraud and abuse laws, false claims laws, and other healthcare laws and regulations. If we or our employees, independent contractors,
consultants, commercial partners, or vendors violate these laws, we could face substantial penalties.

Our relationships with customers, healthcare providers, and third-party payors may be subject, directly or indirectly, to federal and state healthcare
fraud and abuse laws, false claims laws, and other healthcare laws and regulations. These laws may impact, among other things, any future clinical research
programs, as well as our proposed and future sales, marketing, and education programs. In particular, the promotion, sales and marketing of healthcare items
and services is subject to extensive laws and regulations designed to prevent fraud, kickbacks, self-dealing, and other abusive practices. These laws and
regulations may restrict or prohibit a wide range of pricing, discounting, marketing and promotion, sales commission, customer incentive, and other business
arrangements. The U.S. healthcare laws and regulations that may affect our ability to operate include, but are not limited to:

.

the federal Anti-Kickback Statute, which prohibits, among other things, any person or entity from knowingly and willfully, offering, paying,
soliciting or receiving any remuneration, directly or indirectly, overtly or covertly, in cash or in kind, to induce, or in return for, the purchasing,
leasing, ordering or arranging for the purchase, lease, or order of any item or service reimbursable under Medicare, Medicaid or other federal
healthcare programs. The term “remuneration” has been broadly interpreted to include anything of value. Although there are a number of
statutory exceptions and regulatory safe harbors protecting some common activities from prosecution, the exceptions and safe harbors are
drawn narrowly. Practices that may be alleged to be intended to induce prescribing, purchases or recommendations, include any payments of
more than fair market value, and may be subject to scrutiny if they do not qualify for an exception or safe harbor. In addition, a person or entity
does not need to have actual knowledge of this statute or specific intent to violate it in order to have committed a violation;

federal civil and criminal false claims laws, including the federal civil False Claims Act, and civil monetary penalty laws, which prohibit, among
other things, individuals or entities from knowingly presenting, or causing to be presented, claims for payment or approval from Medicare,
Medicaid, or other federal government programs that are false or fraudulent or knowingly making a false statement to improperly avoid,
decrease or conceal an obligation to pay money to the federal government, including federal healthcare programs. In addition, the government
may assert that a claim including items or services resulting from a violation of the federal Anti-Kickback Statute constitutes a false or
fraudulent claim for purposes of the federal civil False Claims Act and the civil monetary penalties statute;

the federal Health Insurance Portability and Accountability Act of 1996 (HIPAA) which created new federal civil and criminal statutes that
prohibit knowingly and willfully executing, or attempting to execute, a scheme to defraud any healthcare benefit program or obtain, by means
of false or fraudulent pretenses, representations, or promises, any of the money or property owned by, or under the custody or control of, any
healthcare benefit program, including private third-party payors and knowingly and willfully falsifying, concealing or covering up by any trick,
scheme or device, a material fact or making any materially false, fictitious or fraudulent statements in connection with the delivery of, or
payment for, healthcare benefits, items or services. Similar to the federal Anti-Kickback Statute, a person or entity does not need to have actual
knowledge of the statute or specific intent to violate it in order to have committed a violation;

HIPAA, as amended by the Health Information Technology for Economic and Clinical Health Act (HITECH), and their respective implementing
regulations, which impose requirements on certain healthcare providers, health plans, and healthcare clearinghouses, known as covered
entities, and their respective business associates that perform services for them that involve the use, or disclosure of, individually identifiable
health information as well as their covered subcontractors; and

40



. the federal Physician Payments Sunshine Act, which requires certain manufacturers of drugs, devices, biologicals and medical supplies for which
payment is available under Medicare, Medicaid or the Children’s Health Insurance Program (with certain exceptions) to report annually to CMS
information related to payments or other transfers of value made to physicians, (defined to include doctors, dentists, optometrists, podiatrists
and chiropractors), other healthcare professionals (such as physician assistants and purse practitioners), and teaching hospitals, as well as
ownership and investment interests held by such physicians and their immediate family members.

We may also be subject to state and foreign equivalents of each of the healthcare laws described above, among others, some of which may be broader
in scope. For example, we may be subject to the following: anti-kickback and false claims laws and regulations that may apply to sales or marketing
arrangements and claims involving healthcare items or services reimbursed by non-governmental third party payors, including private insurers, or that apply
regardless of payor; laws and regulations that require pharmaceutical companies to comply with the pharmaceutical industry’s voluntary compliance
guidelines and the relevant compliance guidance promulgated by the federal government; laws and regulations that require drug manufacturers to report
information related to payments and other transfers of value to physicians and other healthcare providers, marketing expenditures, or drug pricing; and laws
and regulations requiring the registration of pharmaceutical sales and medical representatives.

Additionally, we may be subject to consumer protection and unfair competition laws, which broadly regulate marketplace activities and activities that
potentially harm consumers.

Because of the breadth of these laws and regulations and the narrowness of the statutory exceptions and regulatory safe harbors available, it is
possible that some of our business activities, or our arrangements with physicians, could be subject to challenge under one or more of such laws and
regulations. It is not always possible to identify and deter employee misconduct or business noncompliance, and the precautions we take to detect and
prevent inappropriate conduct may not be effective in controlling unknown or unmanaged risks or losses or in protecting us from governmental investigations
or other actions or lawsuits stemming from a failure to be in compliance with such laws or regulations. Efforts to ensure that our business arrangements will
comply with applicable healthcare laws and regulations may involve substantial costs. It is possible that governmental and enforcement authorities will
conclude that our business practices may not comply with current or future statutes, regulations or case law interpreting applicable fraud and abuse or other
healthcare laws and regulations. If we or our employees, independent contractors, consultants, commercial partners and vendors violate these laws and
regulations, we may be subject to investigations, enforcement actions and/or significant penalties, including the imposition of significant civil, criminal and
administrative penalties, damages, disgorgement, monetary fines, imprisonment, possible exclusion from participation in Medicare, Medicaid and other
healthcare programs, contractual damages, reputational harm, diminished profits and future earnings, additional reporting requirements and/or oversight if
we become subject to a corporate integrity agreement or similar agreement to resolve allegations of non-compliance with these laws and regulations, and
curtailment of our operations, any of which could adversely affect our ability to operate our business and our results of operations. In addition, any approval
and commercialization of any product candidates outside the United States will also likely subject us to foreign equivalents of the healthcare laws and
regulations mentioned above, among other foreign laws and regulations.

We (and the third parties with whom we work) are subject to stringent and evolving U.S. and foreign laws, regulations, and rules, industry standards,
contractual obligations, policies and other obligations related to data privacy and security. Our actual or perceived failure to comply with such obligations
(or such failure by the third parties with whom we work) could lead to regulatory investigations or actions; litigation (including class claims) and mass
arbitration demands; fines and penalties; disruptions of our business operations; reputational harm; loss of revenue or profits; and other adverse business
consequences. *
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In the ordinary course of business, we collect, receive, store, process, generate, use, transfer, disclose, make accessible, protect, secure, dispose of,
transmit, and share (collectively, process) personal data and other sensitive information, including proprietary and confidential business data, trade secrets,
intellectual property, data we collect about trial participants in connection with clinical trials, and sensitive third-party data (collectively, sensitive data). Our
data processing activities subject us to numerous data privacy and security obligations, such as various laws, regulations, guidance, industry standards,
external and internal privacy and security policies, contractual requirements, and other obligations, relating to data privacy and security.

In the United States, federal, state, and local governments have enacted numerous data privacy and security laws, including data breach notification
laws, state and federal health information privacy laws, personal data privacy laws, and consumer protection laws (e.g., Section 5 of the Federal Trade
Commission Act), and other similar laws (e.g., wiretapping laws). In addition, we may obtain health data from third parties (including research institutions
from which we obtain clinical trial data) that is subject to privacy and security requirements under HIPAA, as amended by HITECH, and their respective
implementing regulations. Depending on the facts and circumstances, we could be subject to civil, criminal, and administrative penalties if we knowingly
obtain, use, or disclose individually identifiable protected health information in a manner that is not authorized or permitted by HIPAA.

In the past few years, numerous U.S. states—including California, Virginia, Colorado, Connecticut, and Utah—have enacted comprehensive privacy
laws that impose certain obligations on covered businesses, including providing specific disclosures in privacy notices and affording residents with certain
rights concerning their personal data. As applicable, such rights may include the right to access, correct, or delete certain personal data, and to opt-out of
certain data processing activities, such as targeted advertising, profiling, and automated decision-making. The exercise of these rights may impact our
business and ability to provide our products and services. Certain states also impose stricter requirements for processing certain personal data, including
sensitive information, such as conducting data privacy impact assessments. These state laws allow for statutory fines for noncompliance. For example, the
California Consumer Privacy Act of 2018, as amended by the California Privacy Rights Act of 2020 (CPRA) (collectively, the CCPA), applies to personal data of
consumers, business representatives, and employees who are California residents, and requires businesses to provide specific disclosures in privacy notices
and honor requests of such individuals to exercise certain privacy rights. The CCPA provides for fines of up to $7,500 per intentional violation and allows
private litigants affected by certain data breaches to recover significant statutory damages. Similar laws are being considered in several other states, as well as
at the federal and local levels, and we expect more states to pass similar laws in the future. While these states, like the CCPA, also exempt some data
processed in the context of clinical trials, these developments may further complicate compliance efforts, and increase legal risk and compliance costs for us
and the third parties upon whom we rely.

Outside the United States, an increasing number of laws, regulations, and industry standards may govern data privacy and security. For example, the
European Union’s General Data Protection Regulation (EU GDPR), the United Kingdom’s GDPR (UK GDPR), Canada’s Personal Information Protection and
Electronic Documents Act (PIPEDA), Australia’s Privacy Act, and New Zealand’s Privacy Act, impose strict requirements for processing personal data. For
example, under the EU GDPR and UK GDPR, companies may face temporary or definitive bans on data processing and other corrective actions, fines of up to
20 million euros or 17.5 million pounds, respectively, or 4% of annual global revenue, in each case, whichever is greater, or private litigation related to
processing of personal data brought by classes of data subjects or consumer protection organizations authorized at law to represent their interests.
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In the ordinary course of business, we may transfer personal data from Europe and other jurisdictions to the United States or other countries. Europe
and other jurisdictions have enacted laws requiring data to be localized or limiting the transfer of personal data to other countries. In particular, the European
Economic Area (EEA) and the United Kingdom (UK) have significantly restricted the transfer of personal data to the United States and other countries whose
privacy laws they generally believe are inadequate. Other jurisdictions may adopt similarly stringent interpretations of their data localization and cross-border
data transfer laws. Although there are currently various mechanisms that may be used to transfer personal data from the EEA and UK to the United States in
compliance with law, such as the European Commission’s Standard Contractual Clauses, the UK’s International Data Transfer Agreement / Addendum, and the
EU-U.S. Data Privacy Framework and the UK extension thereto (which allows for transfers to relevant U.S.-based organizations who self-certify compliance and
participate in the Framework and/or extension thereto), these mechanisms are subject to potential legal challenges, and there is no assurance that we can
satisfy or rely on these measures to lawfully transfer personal data to the United States. If there is no lawful manner for us to transfer personal data from the
EEA, the UK, or other jurisdictions to the United States, or if the requirements for a legally-compliant transfer are too onerous, we could face significant
adverse consequences, including the interruption or degradation of our operations, the need to relocate part of or all of our business or data processing
activities to other jurisdictions (such as Europe) at significant expense, increased exposure to regulatory actions, substantial fines and penalties, the inability
to transfer data and work with partners, vendors and other third parties, and injunctions against our processing or transferring of personal data necessary to
operate our business. These challenges and risks concerning cross-border transfers of personal data out of the EEA and UK to recipients in other jurisdictions,
notably recipients in the United States, may be of particular significance to us and our operations as the majority of the trials we conduct take place in
locations outside the United States, with a large number occurring in the EEA or UK. Furthermore, companies that transfer personal data out of the EEA and
UK to other jurisdictions, particularly to the United States, are subject to increased scrutiny from regulators, individual litigants, and activist groups. Some
European regulators have ordered certain companies to suspend or permanently cease certain transfers of personal data out of Europe for allegedly violating
the GDPR’s cross-border data transfer limitations.

In addition to data privacy and security laws, we are also bound by contractual obligations related to data privacy and security, and our efforts to
comply with such obligations may not be successful. Our employees and personnel may use generative artificial intelligence (Al) technologies to perform their
work, and the disclosure and use of personal data in generative Al technologies is subject to various privacy laws and other privacy or legal obligations (such
as copyright infringement). Governments have passed and are likely to pass additional laws regulating generative Al. Any use of this technology could result in
additional compliance costs, regulatory investigations and actions, and consumer lawsuits. If we are unable to use generative Al, it could make our business
less efficient and result in competitive disadvantages.

We publish privacy policies, marketing materials and other statements, such as compliance with certain certifications or self-regulatory principles,
regarding data privacy and security. If these policies, marketing materials or statements are found to be deficient, lacking in transparency, deceptive, unfair, or
misrepresentative of our practices, we may be subject to investigation, enforcement actions by regulators or other adverse consequences.

Obligations related to data privacy and security (and consumers’ data privacy expectations) are quickly changing, becoming increasingly stringent, and
creating uncertainty. Additionally, these obligations may be subject to differing applications and interpretations, which may be inconsistent or conflict among
jurisdictions. Preparing for and complying with these obligations requires us to devote significant resources and may necessitate changes to our services,
information technologies, systems, and practices and to those of any third parties with whom we work.
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We may at times fail (or be perceived to have failed) in our efforts to comply with our data privacy and security obligations. Moreover, despite our
efforts, our personnel or third parties with whom we work may fail to comply with such obligations, which could negatively impact our business operations. If
we or the third parties with whom we work fail, or are perceived to have failed, to address or comply with applicable data privacy and security obligations, we
could face significant consequences. These consequences may include, but are not limited to, government enforcement actions (e.g., investigations, fines,
penalties, audits, inspections, and similar); litigation (including class-action claims) and mass arbitration demands; additional reporting requirements and/or
oversight; bans or restrictions on processing personal data; and orders to destroy or not use personal data.

In particular, plaintiffs have become increasingly more active in bringing privacy-related claims against companies, including class claims and mass
arbitration demands. Some of these claims allow for the recovery of statutory damages on a per violation basis, and, if viable, carry the potential for
monumental statutory damages, depending on the volume of data and the number of violations.

Any of these events could have a material adverse effect on our reputation, business, or financial condition, including but not limited to: loss of
customers; interruptions or stoppages in our business operations (including future clinical trials); inability to process sensitive data or to operate in certain
jurisdictions; limited ability to develop or commercialize our products; expenditure of time and resources to defend any claim or inquiry; adverse publicity; or
revision or restructuring of our operations.

If product liability lawsuits are brought against us, we may incur substantial liabilities and may be required to limit commercialization of any
product candidates.

Although we are not currently pursuing further clinical development of our only product candidate, mavodelpar, we face an inherent risk of product
liability as a result of the clinical testing of mavodelpar we have conducted and any future clinical testing of mavodelpar and any other product candidates we
may conduct. We will face an even greater risk if we commercialize any products. For example, we may be sued if mavodelpar or any future product
candidates causes or is perceived to cause injury or is found to be otherwise unsuitable during clinical testing, manufacturing, marketing, or sale. Any such
product liability claims may include allegations of defects in manufacturing, defects in design, a failure to warn of dangers inherent in the product, negligence,
strict liability, and a breach of warranties. Claims could also be asserted under state consumer protection acts. If we cannot successfully defend ourselves
against product liability claims, we may incur substantial liabilities or be required to limit commercialization of any product candidates. Even successful
defense would require significant financial and management resources. Regardless of the merits or eventual outcome, liability claims may result in:

. decreased demand for any product candidates;

. injury to our reputation;

. withdrawal of clinical trial participants;

. initiation of investigations by regulatory authorities;

. costs to defend the related litigation;

. a diversion of management’s time and our resources;

. substantial monetary awards to trial participants or patients;

. product recalls, withdrawals or labeling, marketing, or promotional restrictions;
. loss of revenue;

. exhaustion of any available insurance and our capital resources;
. the inability to commercialize any product candidates; or

. a decline in our share price.
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Our inability to obtain and retain sufficient product liability insurance at an acceptable cost to protect against potential product liability claims could
prevent or inhibit the commercialization of products we may develop. We currently carry an aggregate of up to $7.0 million of product liability insurance
covering our clinical trials. Although we maintain such insurance, any claim that may be brought against us could result in a court judgment or settlement in
an amount that is not covered, in whole or in part, by our insurance or that is in excess of the limits of our insurance coverage. If we determine that it is
prudent to increase our product liability coverage due to the commercial launch of any approved product, we may be unable to obtain such increased
coverage on acceptable terms, or at all. Our insurance policies also have various exclusions, and we may be subject to a product liability claim for which we
have no coverage. We will have to pay any amounts awarded by a court or negotiated in a settlement that exceed our coverage limitations or that are not
covered by our insurance, and we may not have, or be able to obtain, sufficient capital to pay such amounts.

Our ability to utilize our net operating loss (NOL) carryforwards and certain other tax attributes may be limited.

We have incurred substantial losses during our history and do not expect to become profitable in the near future, and we may never achieve
profitability. To the extent that we continue to generate taxable losses, unused losses will carry forward to offset future taxable income, if any, until such
unused losses expire (if at all). See Note 11, Income Taxes of Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements included in our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the
year ended December 31, 2023 for further discussion.

Under federal tax legislation enacted in 2017, informally titled the Tax Cuts and Jobs Act (the Tax Act), as modified by the Coronavirus Aid, Relief, and
Economic Security Act (the CARES Act), federal NOL carryforwards generated in tax years beginning after December 31, 2017 may be carried forward
indefinitely but, in the case of tax years beginning after 2020, may only be used to offset 80% of our taxable income annually. Our NOLs and tax credit
carryforwards are subject to review and possible adjustment by the Internal Revenue Service (IRS) and state tax authorities and may become subject to an
annual limitation in the event of certain cumulative changes in the ownership interest of significant stockholders over a rolling three-year period in excess of
50 percentage points (by value), as defined under Section 382 of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended. Our ability to utilize our NOL carryforwards
and other tax attributes to offset future taxable income or tax liabilities may be limited as a result of ownership changes. Similar rules may apply under state
tax laws. Such limitations could result in the expiration of our carryforwards before they can be utilized and, if we are profitable, our future cash flows could
be adversely affected due to our increased taxable income or tax liability. We may have experienced ownership changes in the past and may experience
ownership changes as a result of future offerings and/or subsequent changes in our stock ownership (some of which are outside our control). In addition, at
the state level, there may be periods during which the use of NOLs is suspended or otherwise limited, which could accelerate or permanently increase state
taxes owed.

Changes in tax laws or regulations that are applied adversely to us or our customers may have a material and adverse effect on our business, cash flow,
financial condition or results of operations.

The Tax Act enacted many significant changes to the U.S. tax laws. Future guidance from the IRS and other tax authorities with respect to the Tax Act
may affect us, and certain aspects of the Tax Act could be repealed or modified in future legislation. For example, the CARES Act modified certain provisions of
the Tax Act. Changes in corporate tax rates, the realization of net deferred tax assets relating to our U.S. operations, the taxation of foreign earnings and the
deductibility of expenses under the Tax Act or future tax reform legislation could have a material impact on the value of our deferred tax assets, could result
in significant one-time charges in the current or future taxable years and could increase our future U.S. tax expense. For example, the recently enacted IRA
includes provisions that will impact the U.S. federal income taxation of corporations, including imposing a minimum tax on the book income of certain large
corporations and an excise tax on certain corporate stock repurchases that would be imposed on the corporation repurchasing such stock. The foregoing
items, as well as any other future changes in tax laws, could have a material adverse effect on our business, cash flow, financial condition or results of
operations. In addition, it is uncertain if and to what extent various states will conform to the Tax Act, the CARES Act, the IRA, or any newly enacted federal
tax legislation.
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Tax authorities may disagree with our positions and conclusions regarding certain tax positions, resulting in unanticipated costs, taxes or non-realization
of expected benefits.

A tax authority may disagree with tax positions that we have taken, which could result in increased tax liabilities. For example, the IRS or another tax
authority could challenge our allocation of income by tax jurisdiction and the amounts paid between our affiliated companies pursuant to our intercompany
arrangements and transfer pricing policies, including amounts paid with respect to our intellectual property development. Similarly, a tax authority could
assert that we are subject to tax in a jurisdiction where we believe we have not established a taxable nexus, often referred to as a “permanent establishment”
under international tax treaties, and such an assertion, if successful, could increase our expected tax liability in one or more jurisdictions. A tax authority may
take the position that material income tax liabilities, interest and penalties are payable by us, in which case, we expect that we might contest such
assessment. Contesting such an assessment may be lengthy and costly and if we were unsuccessful in disputing the assessment, the implications could
increase our anticipated effective tax rate, where applicable.

Adverse developments affecting the financial services industry, such as actual events or concerns involving liquidity, defaults or non-performance by
financial institutions could adversely affect our current financial condition and projected business operations.

Events involving limitations to liquidity, defaults, non-performance or other adverse developments that affect financial institutions, transactional
counterparties or other companies in the financial services industry, or concerns or rumors about any events of these kinds or other similar risks, have in the
past and may in the future lead to market-wide liquidity problems. For example, on March 10, 2023, Silicon Valley Bank (SVB) was closed by the California
Department of Financial Protection and Innovation, and the Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation (FDIC) was appointed as receiver. Subsequently, the FDIC
announced that all deposits with SVB would be fully insured. Similarly, on March 12, 2023, Signature Bank Corp. and Silvergate Capital Corp. were each swept
into receivership and on May 1, 2023, First Republic Bank was swept into receivership. We have moved any cash or other deposits previously held at SVB US
(a division of First Citizens Bank) and SVB UK (a division of HSBC) to other financial institutions. We did not have any material impact on our financial condition
or operations as a result of SVB’s circumstances. Additionally, the failure of a bank, or other adverse conditions in the financial or credit markets impacting
financial institutions at which we maintain balances or with which we do business, could adversely impact our liquidity and financial performance. There can
be no assurance that our deposits in excess of the FDIC or other comparable insurance limits will be backstopped by the U.S. or any applicable foreign
government in the future or that any bank or financial institution with which we do business will be able to obtain needed liquidity from other banks,
government institutions or by acquisition in the event of a future failure or liquidity crisis. In addition, if any of our partners or parties with whom we conduct
business are unable to access funds due to the status of their financial institution, such parties’ ability to pay their obligations to us or to enter into new
commercial arrangements requiring additional payments to us could be adversely affected.

Investor concerns regarding the U.S. or international financial systems could result in less favorable commercial financing terms, including higher
interest rates or costs and tighter financial and operating covenants, or systemic limitations on access to credit and liquidity sources, thereby making it more
difficult for us to acquire financing on acceptable terms or at all. Our inability to acquire financing on acceptable terms or at all may materially harm our
business, financial condition, results of operations and prospects.

Risks Related to Our Reliance on Third Parties

We have in the past and may in the future rely on third parties to conduct, supervise, and monitor our clinical trials. If these third parties do not
successfully carry out their contractual duties, meet rigorously enforced regulatory requirements, or meet expected deadlines, we may not be able to
obtain regulatory approval for or commercialize any product candidates we may choose to develop.

Although we are not currently pursuing further clinical development of our only product candidate, mavodelpar, we have in the past and may in the
future rely on third-party CROs in connection with any future

46



clinical trials for any product candidates we may choose to develop. We control or will control only certain aspects of their activities. Nevertheless, we are
responsible for ensuring that each of our clinical trials that we have conducted and may conduct in the future is conducted in accordance with applicable
protocol, legal, regulatory, and scientific standards, and our reliance on our CROs does not relieve us of our regulatory responsibilities. We and our CROs are
required to comply with GCPs, which are regulations and guidelines enforced by the FDA and comparable foreign regulatory authorities for product
candidates in clinical development. Regulatory authorities enforce these GCPs through periodic inspections of trial sponsors, principal investigators and trial
sites. If we or any of these CROs fail to comply with applicable GCP regulations, the clinical data generated in our future clinical trials may be deemed
unreliable and the FDA or comparable foreign regulatory authorities may require us to perform additional clinical trials before approving our marketing
applications. Upon inspection, such regulatory authorities may determine that our future clinical trials do not comply with the GCP regulations. In addition,
our future clinical trials must be conducted with drug product produced under cGMP regulations and will require a large number of test subjects. Our failure
or any failure by our CROs to comply with these regulations or to recruit a sufficient number of patients may require us to repeat clinical trials, which would
delay the regulatory approval process. Moreover, our business may be implicated if any of our CROs violates federal or state fraud and abuse or false claims
laws and regulations or healthcare privacy and security laws.

The CROs on whom we have historically relied and may in the future rely are not our employees and, except for remedies available to us under our
agreements with such CROs, we cannot control whether or not they devote sufficient time and resources to our ongoing preclinical, clinical and nonclinical
programs. These CROs may also have relationships with other commercial entities, including our competitors, for whom they may also be conducting clinical
trials or other drug development activities, which could affect their performance on our behalf. If such CROs do not successfully carry out their contractual
duties or obligations or meet expected deadlines, if they need to be replaced or if the quality or accuracy of the clinical data they obtain is compromised due
to the failure to adhere to the relevant clinical protocols or regulatory requirements or for other reasons, our future clinical trials may be extended, delayed,
or terminated and we may not be able to complete development of, obtain regulatory approval for or successfully commercialize any product candidates. As a
result, our financial results and the commercial prospects for any product candidates would be harmed, our costs could increase and our ability to generate
revenues could be delayed.

Switching or adding CROs involves substantial cost and requires extensive management time and focus. In addition, there is a natural transition period
when a new CRO commences work. As a result, delays occur, which can materially impact our ability to meet the clinical development timelines we may
establish for any product candidates. Although we carefully manage our relationships with our CROs, we may encounter challenges or delays in the future and
these delays or challenges may have a material adverse impact on our business, prospects, financial condition, and results of operations.

In addition, quarantines, shelter-in-place, and similar government orders, or the perception that such orders, shutdowns or other restrictions on the
conduct of business operations could occur, related to infectious diseases could impact personnel at our CROs, which could disrupt our clinical timelines,
which could have a material adverse impact on our business, prospects, financial condition, and results of operations.

We have in the past and may in the future rely completely on third parties to manufacture our preclinical and clinical drug supplies and we may in the
future rely on third parties to produce commercial supplies of any product candidates that we may choose to develop, if approved, and these third parties
may fail to obtain and maintain regulatory approval for their facilities, fail to provide us with sufficient quantities of drug product or fail to do so at
acceptable quality levels or prices.

We are not currently pursuing further clinical development of our only product candidate, mavodelpar. If we pursue development of other product
candidates, we will likely rely on contract manufacturers manufacture our clinical drug supplies for use in the conduct of our clinical trials. We do not
currently have nor do we plan to acquire the infrastructure or capability internally to manufacture our clinical drug supplies for use in the conduct of our
clinical trials, and we lack the resources and the capability to manufacture any product candidates on a clinical
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or commercial scale. Instead, we have historically and may in the future rely on contract manufacturers for such production.

Our reliance on third-party suppliers and manufacturers, including single-source suppliers, could harm our ability to develop any product candidates or
commercialize any such product candidates, if approved. Further, any delay in identifying and qualifying a manufacturer for commercial production could
delay the potential commercialization of any such product candidates, and, in the event that we do not have sufficient product to complete our future clinical
trials, it could delay such trials.

The facilities used by our contract manufacturers to manufacture any product candidates must be approved by the applicable regulatory authorities,
including the FDA, pursuant to inspections that will be conducted after an NDA or comparable foreign regulatory marketing application is submitted. If our
contract manufacturers cannot successfully manufacture material that conforms to our specifications and the FDA’s strict regulatory requirements, they will
not be able to secure or maintain FDA approval for the manufacturing facilities. In addition, we have no control over the ability of our contract manufacturers
to maintain adequate quality control, quality assurance and qualified personnel. If the FDA or any other applicable regulatory authority does not approve
these facilities for the manufacture any such product candidates or if it withdraws any such approval in the future, or if our suppliers or contract
manufacturers decide they no longer want to supply or manufacture for us, we may need to find alternative manufacturing facilities, in which case we might
not be able to identify manufacturers for clinical or commercial supply on acceptable terms, or at all, which would significantly impact our ability to develop,
obtain regulatory approval for, or market any such product candidates.

In addition, the manufacture of pharmaceutical products is complex and requires significant expertise and capital investment, including the
development of advanced manufacturing techniques and process controls. Manufacturers of pharmaceutical products often encounter difficulties in
production, particularly in scaling up and validating initial production and absence of contamination. These problems include difficulties with production costs
and yields, quality control, including stability of the product, quality assurance testing, operator error, shortages of qualified personnel, as well as compliance
with strictly enforced federal, state, and foreign regulations. Furthermore, if contaminants are discovered in our supply of any product candidates or in the
manufacturing facilities, such manufacturing facilities may need to be closed for an extended period of time to investigate and remedy the contamination.
Any stability or other issues relating to the manufacture of any product candidates may occur in the future. In addition, quarantines, shelter-in-place, and
similar government orders, or the perception that such orders, shutdowns, or other restrictions on the conduct of business operations could occur, related to
infectious diseases could impact personnel at our third-party manufacturing facilities upon which we may rely in the future, or the availability or cost of
materials, which could disrupt the supply chain for our product candidates. Additionally, the manufacturers whom we may rely on may experience
manufacturing difficulties due to resource constraints or as a result of labor disputes or unstable political environments. If the manufacturers we rely on were
to encounter any of these difficulties, or otherwise fail to comply with their contractual obligations, our ability to provide our product candidate to patients in
clinical trials would be jeopardized. Any delay or interruption in the supply of clinical trial supplies could delay the completion of any future clinical trials,
increase the costs associated with maintaining clinical trial programs and, depending upon the period of delay, require us to commence new clinical trials at
additional expense or terminate clinical trials completely.

If we or our third-party manufacturers use hazardous substances in a manner that causes injury or violates applicable law, we may be liable for damages.

We are not currently pursuing further clinical development of our only product candidate, mavodelpar. However, our historical research and
development activities involved and future activities could involve the controlled use of potentially hazardous substances by our third-party manufacturers.
Such manufacturers are subject to federal, state, and local laws and regulations in the United States governing the use, manufacture, storage, handling and
disposal of medical, radioactive and hazardous materials. Although we believe that the procedures for using, handling, storing and disposing of these
materials used by the manufacturers we historically relied on comply with legally prescribed standards, we cannot completely eliminate the risk of
contamination or
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injury resulting from hazardous materials. As a result of any such contamination or injury, we may incur liability or local, city, state or federal authorities may
curtail the use of these materials and interrupt our business operations. In the event of an accident, we could be held liable for damages or penalized with
fines, and the liability could exceed our resources. We do not have any insurance for liabilities arising from hazardous materials. Compliance with applicable
environmental laws and regulations is expensive, and current or future environmental regulations may impair our research, development, and production
efforts, which could harm our business, prospects, financial condition, or results of operations.

Risks Related to Our Intellectual Property

Our success depends on our ability to obtain and maintain sufficient intellectual property protection for any product candidates and other proprietary
technologies.

Our commercial success will depend in part on our ability to obtain and maintain a combination of patents, trade secret protection and confidentiality
agreements to protect the intellectual property related to any product candidates and other proprietary technologies we develop. If we are unable to obtain
or maintain patent protection with respect to such product candidates, and other proprietary technologies we may develop, our business, financial condition,
results of operations, and prospects could be materially harmed.

We generally seek to protect our products and product candidates and related inventions and improvements that we consider important to our
business. Pending patent applications cannot be enforced against third parties practicing the technology claimed in such applications unless, and until,
patents issue from such applications, and then only to the extent the issued claims cover such technology. There can be no assurance that our patent
applications or the patent applications of our future licensors will result in patents being issued or that issued patents will afford sufficient protection against
competitors with similar technology, nor can there be any assurance that the patents issued will not be infringed, designed around or invalidated by third
parties.

Even issued patents may later be found invalid or unenforceable or may be modified or revoked in proceedings instituted by third parties before
various patent offices or in courts. The degree of future protection for our and our licensors’ proprietary rights is uncertain. Only limited protection may be
available and may not adequately protect our rights or permit us to gain or keep any competitive advantage. These uncertainties and/or limitations in our
ability to properly protect the intellectual property rights relating to our product candidates could have a material adverse effect on our financial condition
and results of operations.

We cannot be certain that the claims in our U.S. pending patent applications, corresponding international patent applications and patent applications
in certain foreign territories, or those of our future licensors, will be considered patentable by the United States Patent and Trademark Office (USPTO), courts
in the United States or by the patent offices and courts in foreign countries, nor can we be certain that the claims in our future issued patents will not be
found invalid or unenforceable if challenged.

In addition, although we enter into non-disclosure and confidentiality agreements with parties who have access to patentable aspects of our research
and development output, such as our employees, outside scientific collaborators, CROs, third-party manufacturers, consultants, advisors, potential partners,
and other third parties, any of these parties may breach such agreements and disclose such output before a patent application is filed, thereby jeopardizing
our ability to seek patent protection.

Given the amount of time required for the development, testing and regulatory review of new product candidates, patents protecting such candidates
might expire before or shortly after such candidates are commercialized. As a result, our intellectual property may not provide us with sufficient rights to
exclude others from commercializing products similar or identical to ours.
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Obtaining and maintaining our patent protection depends on compliance with various procedural, document submission, fee payment and other
requirements imposed by governmental patent agencies, and our patent protection could be reduced or eliminated for non-compliance with these
requirements.

The patent application process is subject to numerous risks and uncertainties, and there can be no assurance that we or any of our potential future
collaborators will be successful in protecting our product candidates by obtaining and defending patents. The USPTO and various foreign governmental patent
agencies require compliance with a number of procedural, documentary, fee payment, and other similar provisions during the patent process. Periodic
maintenance fees, renewal fees, annuity fees and various other governmental fees on any issued patents and/or applications are due to be paid to the USPTO
and foreign patent agencies in several stages over the lifetime of the patents and/or applications. We have systems in place to remind us to pay these fees,
and we employ an outside firm and rely on our outside counsel to pay these fees due to foreign patent agencies. While an inadvertent lapse may sometimes
be cured by payment of a late fee or by other means in accordance with the applicable rules, there are situations in which noncompliance can result in
abandonment or lapse of the patent or patent application, resulting in partial or complete loss of patent rights in the relevant jurisdiction. Non-compliance
events that could result in abandonment or lapse of a patent or patent application include, but are not limited to, failure to respond to official actions within
prescribed time limits, non-payment of fees and failure to properly legalize and submit formal documents. If such event were to occur, our competitors might
be able to enter the market with similar or identical products or technology earlier than should otherwise have been the case, which would have a material
adverse effect on our business, financial condition, results of operations, and prospects.

Patent terms may be inadequate to protect our competitive position on our product candidates for an adequate amount of time.

Patent rights are of limited duration. The term of any individual patent depends on applicable law in the country where the patent is granted. In the
United States, provided all maintenance fees are timely paid, a patent generally has a term of 20 years from its application filing date or earliest claimed non-
provisional filing date. Given the amount of time required for the development, testing and regulatory review of new product candidates, patents protecting
such candidates might expire before or shortly after such product candidates are commercialized. Even if patents covering our product candidates are
obtained, once the patent term has expired for a product, we may be open to competition from generic products. As a result, our patent portfolio may not
provide us with sufficient rights to exclude others from commercializing product candidates similar or identical to ours. Upon issuance in the United States,
the term of a patent can be increased by patent term adjustment, which is based on certain delays caused by the USPTO, but this increase can be reduced or
eliminated based on certain delays caused by the patent applicant during patent prosecution. The term of a United States patent may also be shortened if the
patent is terminally disclaimed over an earlier-filed patent. Extensions may be available under certain circumstances, but the term of a patent and,
correspondingly, the protection it affords is limited. A patent term extension (PTE) based on regulatory delay may be available in the United States. However,
only a single patent can be extended for each marketing approval, and any patent can be extended only once, for a single product. Moreover, the scope of
protection during the period of the PTE does not extend to the full scope of the claim, but instead only to the scope of the claim covering the product as
approved. Laws governing analogous PTEs in foreign jurisdictions vary widely, as do laws governing the ability to obtain multiple patents from a single patent
family. Additionally, we may not receive an extension if we fail to exercise due diligence during the testing phase or regulatory review process, apply within
applicable deadlines, fail to apply prior to expiration of relevant patents or otherwise fail to satisfy applicable requirements. If we are unable to obtain PTE or
restoration, or the term of any such extension is less than we request, the period during which we will have the right to exclusively market our product will be
shortened and our competitors may obtain approval of competing products following our patent expiration and may take advantage of our investment in
development and clinical trials by referencing our clinical and preclinical data to launch their product earlier than might otherwise be the case, which could
materially adversely affect our business, financial condition, results of operations and prospects.

Even if we or our licensors obtain patents covering our product candidates, when the terms of all patents covering a product expire, our business may
become subject to competition from competitive products, including generic products. Given the amount of time required for the development, testing, and
regulatory review and
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approval of new product candidates, patents protecting such candidates may expire before or shortly after such candidates are commercialized. As a result,
our owned and licensed patent portfolio may not provide us with sufficient rights to exclude others from commercializing products similar or identical to ours.

We cannot ensure that patent rights relating to inventions described and claimed in our pending patent applications will issue or that patents based on
our patent applications will not be challenged and rendered invalid and/or unenforceable.

We have pending U.S., international (i.e., PCT), and other foreign patent applications and may submit similar patent applications for any future product
candidates. However, we cannot predict:

. if and when patents may issue based on our patent applications;

. the scope of protection of any patent issuing based on our patent applications;

. whether the claims of any patent issuing based on our patent applications will provide protection against competitors,

. whether or not third parties will find ways to invalidate or circumvent our patent rights;

. whether or not others will obtain patents claiming aspects similar to those covered by our patents and patent applications;

. whether we will need to initiate litigation or administrative proceedings to enforce and/or defend our patent rights which will be costly
whether we win or lose; and/or

. whether the patent applications that we own or in-license will result in issued patents with claims that cover our product candidates or uses
thereof.

We cannot be certain that the claims in our pending and future patent applications directed to our product candidates, as well as technologies relating
to our research programs will be considered patentable by the USPTO or by patent offices in foreign countries. One aspect of the determination of
patentability of our inventions depends on the scope and content of the “prior art,” information that was or is deemed available to a person of skill in the
relevant art prior to the priority date of the claimed invention. There may be prior art of which we are not aware that may affect the patentability of our
patent claims or, if issued, affect the validity or enforceability of a patent claim relevant to our business. There is no assurance that there is not prior art of
which we are aware, but which we do not believe is relevant to our business, which may, nonetheless, ultimately be found to limit our ability to make, use,
sell, offer for sale or import our products that may be approved in the future, or impair our competitive position. Even if the patents do issue based on our
patent applications, third parties may challenge the validity, enforceability or scope thereof, which may result in such patents being narrowed, invalidated or
held unenforceable. Furthermore, even if they are unchallenged, patents in our portfolio may not adequately exclude third parties from practicing relevant
technology or prevent others from designing around our claims. If the breadth or strength of our intellectual property position with respect to our product
candidates is threatened, it could dissuade companies from collaborating with us to develop and threaten our ability to commercialize our product
candidates. In the event of litigation or administrative proceedings, we cannot be certain that the claims in any of our issued patents will be considered valid
by courts in the United States or foreign countries.

Derivation proceedings may be necessary to determine priority of inventions, and an unfavorable outcome may require us to cease using the related
technology or to attempt to license rights from the prevailing party.

Derivation proceedings provoked by third parties or brought by us or declared by the USPTO may be necessary to determine the priority of inventions
with respect to our patents or patent applications or those of our future licensors. An unfavorable outcome could require us to cease using the related
technology or to attempt to license rights to it from the prevailing party. Our business could be harmed if the prevailing party does not offer us a license on
commercially reasonable terms. Our defense of derivation proceedings may fail and, even if successful, may result in substantial costs and distract our
management and other employees. In addition, the
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uncertainties associated with such proceedings could have a material adverse effect on our ability to raise the funds necessary to continue any future clinical
trials, continue our development programs, license necessary technology from third parties or enter into development or manufacturing partnerships that
would help us bring our product candidates to market.

If the scope of any patent protection we obtain is not sufficiently broad, or if we lose any of our patent protection and/or other market exclusivity, our
ability to prevent our competitors from commercializing similar or identical product candidates may be adversely affected.

The patent position of biotechnology and pharmaceutical companies is highly uncertain and involves complex legal, scientific, and factual questions
and has been the subject of frequent litigation in recent years. As a result, the issuance, scope, validity, enforceability, and commercial value of our patent
rights are highly uncertain. Our patent applications may not result in patents being issued which protect any product candidates and other proprietary
technologies we may develop or which effectively prevent others from commercializing competitive technologies and products. Further, no consistent policy
regarding the breadth of claims allowed in pharmaceutical patents has emerged to date in the United States and in many jurisdictions outside of the United
States. Changes in either the patent laws or interpretations of patent laws in the United States and other countries may diminish the value of our intellectual
property. Accordingly, we cannot predict the breadth of claims that may be enforced in the patents that may be issued from the applications we currently or
may in the future own or license from third parties. Further, if any patents we obtain or license are deemed invalid and unenforceable, our ability to
commercialize or license our technology could be adversely affected.

Moreover, the coverage claimed in a patent application can be significantly reduced before the patent is issued, and its scope can be reinterpreted
after issuance. Even if patent applications we own or in-license in the future issue as patents, they may not issue in a form that will provide us with any
meaningful protection, prevent competitors or other third parties from competing with us, or otherwise provide us with any competitive advantage. Any
patents that we own or in-license may be challenged or circumvented by third parties or may be narrowed or invalidated as a result of challenges by third
parties. Consequently, we do not know whether our product candidates will be protectable or remain protected by valid and enforceable patents. Our
competitors or other third parties may be able to circumvent our patents or the patents of our future licensors by developing similar or alternative
technologies or products in a non-infringing manner which could materially adversely affect our business, financial condition, results of operations and
prospects.

The issuance of a patent is not conclusive as to its inventorship, scope, validity or enforceability, and our patents or the patents of our future licensors
may be challenged in the courts or patent offices in the United States and abroad. We may be subject to a third-party pre-issuance submission of prior art to
the USPTO, or become involved in opposition, derivation, revocation, reexamination, post-grant review (PGR) and inter partes review (IPR), or other similar
proceedings challenging our owned patent rights. An adverse determination in any such submission, proceeding or litigation could reduce the scope of, or
invalidate or render unenforceable, our patent rights, allow third parties to commercialize our product candidates and compete directly with us, without
payment to us, or result in our inability to manufacture or commercialize products without infringing third-party patent rights. Moreover, our patents or the
patents of our future licensors may become subject to post-grant challenge proceedings, such as oppositions in a foreign patent office, that challenge our
priority of invention or other features of patentability with respect to our patents and patent applications and those of our future licensors. Such challenges
may result in loss of patent rights, loss of exclusivity or in patent claims being narrowed, invalidated or held unenforceable, which could limit our ability to
stop others from using or commercializing similar or identical technology and products, or limit the duration of the patent protection of our product
candidates. Such proceedings also may result in substantial cost and require significant time from our scientists and management, even if the eventual
outcome is favorable to us. In addition, if the breadth or strength of protection provided by our patents and patent applications or the patents and patent
applications of our future licensors is threatened, regardless of the outcome, it could dissuade companies from collaborating with us to license, develop or
commercialize current or future product candidates.
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The patent application process is subject to numerous risks and uncertainties, and there can be no assurance that we or any of our actual or potential
future collaborators will be successful in protecting any product candidates and other proprietary technologies and their uses by obtaining, defending and
enforcing patents. These risks and uncertainties include the following:

the USPTO and various foreign governmental patent agencies require compliance with a number of procedural, documentary, fee payment and
other provisions during the patent process, the noncompliance with which can result in abandonment or lapse of a patent or patent
application, and partial or complete loss of patent rights in the relevant jurisdiction;

patent applications may not result in any patents being issued;

patents that may be issued or in-licensed may be challenged, invalidated, modified, revoked, circumvented, found to be unenforceable, or may
otherwise not provide any competitive advantage;

our competitors, many of whom have substantially greater resources than we do and many of whom have made significant investments in
competing technologies, may seek or may have already obtained patents that will limit, interfere with, or eliminate our ability to make, use and
sell our potential product candidates;

other parties may have designed around our claims or developed technologies that may be related or competitive to our platform, may have
filed or may file patent applications and may have received or may receive patents that overlap or conflict with our patent applications, either
by claiming the same composition of matter, methods or formulations or by claiming subject matter that could dominate our patent position;

any successful opposition to any patents owned by or licensed to us could deprive us of rights necessary for the practice of our technologies or
the successful commercialization of any products or product candidates that we may develop;

because patent applications in the United States and most other countries are confidential for a period of time after filing, we cannot be certain
that we or our licensors were or will be the first to file any patent application related to any product candidates and other proprietary
technologies and their uses;

an interference proceeding can be provoked by a third party or instituted by the USPTO to determine who was the first to invent any of the
subject matter covered by the patent claims of our applications for any application with an effective filing date before March 16, 2013;

there may be significant pressure on the U.S. government and international governmental bodies to limit the scope of patent protection both
inside and outside the United States for disease treatments that prove successful, as a matter of public policy regarding worldwide health
concerns; and

countries other than the United States may have patent laws less favorable to patentees than those upheld by U.S. courts, allowing foreign
competitors a better opportunity to create, develop, and market competing product candidates in those countries.

The patent prosecution process is expensive, time-consuming, and complex, and we may not be able to file, prosecute, or maintain all necessary or
desirable patent applications at a reasonable cost or in a timely manner. It is also possible that we will fail to identify patentable aspects of our research and
development output before it is too late to obtain patent protection. Although we enter into non-disclosure and confidentiality agreements with parties who
have access to patentable aspects of our research and development output, such as our employees, corporate collaborators, outside scientific collaborators,
CROs, contract manufacturers, consultants, advisors and other third parties, any of these parties may breach such agreements and disclose such output
before a patent application is filed, thereby jeopardizing our ability to seek patent protection for such output. In addition, our ability to obtain and maintain
valid and enforceable patents depends on whether the differences between our inventions and the prior art allow our inventions to be patentable over the
prior art. Furthermore, publications of discoveries in the scientific literature often lag behind the actual discoveries, and patent applications in the United
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States and other jurisdictions are typically not published until 18 months after filing, or in some cases not at all. Therefore, we cannot be certain that we or
our licensors were the first to make the inventions claimed in any of our owned or licensed patents or pending patent applications, or that we or our licensors
were the first to file for patent protection of such inventions.

Intellectual property rights are uncertain and do not necessarily address all potential threats to our competitive advantage. *

The degree of future protection for our proprietary rights is uncertain and may only afford limited protection and may not adequately protect our
rights or permit us to gain or keep our competitive advantage. If we do not adequately protect our intellectual property and proprietary technology,
competitors may be able to erode or negate any competitive advantage we may have, which could have a material adverse effect on our financial condition
and results of operations. For example:

. others may be able to make products that are similar to any of our product candidates but that are not covered by the claims of our patents;

. we might not have been the first to make the inventions covered by our pending patent applications;

. we might not have been the first to file patent applications for these inventions;

. others may independently develop similar or alternative technologies or duplicate any of our technologies;

. any patents that we obtain may not provide us with any competitive advantages;

. it is possible that the pending patent applications we own or license will not lead to issued patents;

. issued patents that we own or license may be held invalid or unenforceable, as a result of legal challenges by our competitors;

. we may not develop additional proprietary technologies that are patentable;

. our competitors might conduct research and development activities in countries where we do not have patent rights or where patent
protection is weak and then use the information learned from such activities to develop competitive products for sale in our major commercial
markets;

. we cannot ensure that any of our patents, or any of our pending patent applications, if issued, or those of our licensors, will include claims

having a scope sufficient to protect our products;

. there may be significant pressure on the U.S. government and international governmental bodies to limit the scope of patent protection both
inside and outside the United States for disease treatments that prove successful, as a matter of public